
FOUND ATION HEALTH S Y STEMS , INC .

1998 Annual Repor t

Focusing on 
          the basics



The FHS Vi s i o n
Working together with our partners to provide high quality, innovative and affordable

solutions to our members’ health care needs 

The FHS Mission

For Our Customers

■ Eliminate worries and complexities from the process of accessing and receiving

quality health care services 

■ Provide affordable health care products that respond to consumers’ needs for

improved health and well-being and are viewed as best in the market

■ Provide prompt and courteous service that meets or exceeds customer expectations

For Our Provider Part n e r s

■ Commit to long-term relationships based on mutual trust, respect and fairness

■ Work cooperatively to improve the design and delivery of the care and service we

jointly provide

■ Develop partnerships to create new health care solutions that respond to the needs

of our members and patients

For Our Associates

■ Constantly strive for excellence

■ Create an environment that enables each Associate to reach his or her full potential

■ Reward individual achievements in line with overall company values and goals

For Our Stockholders

■ Conduct our business to the highest ethical standards

■ Meet our customers’ expectations and thereby meet our operating and financial

objectives

■ Deliver returns that exceed our cost of capital 

C e rtain statements included in this A n nual Report are “ f o r wa rd looking” statements made pursuant to

the safe harbor provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Such statements

i nvo l ve risks and uncertainties and actual results may differ materially from those results expressed or

implied by such “ f o r wa rd looking” s t a t e m e n t s . For more information please refer to the Risk Factors 

section of the Company ’s va rious filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission and the 

re s p e c t ive documents incorporated by re f e rence there i n .
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Financial Highlights
Foundation Health Systems, Inc.

Year Ended December 31,
(Amounts in thousands,except per share data) 1998 1997 1996 1995 1994

Statement of Operations Data:
R e v e n u e s
Health plan premiums $7,440,981 $5,829,444 $5,395,125 $4,557,214 $3,863,965
Government contracts 989,409 949,168 908,730 279,380 209,980
Specialty services 366,645 342,107 316,993 210,533 139,853
Investment and other income 99,041 114,300 88,392 66,510 51,698

Total revenues 8,896,076 7,235,019 6,709,240 5,113,637 4,265,496

E x p e n s e s
Health plan services 6,547,747 4,912,532 4,598,074 3,643,463 3,091,890
Government contracts health care services 757,047 711,757 706,076 174,040 147,629
Specialty services 307,675 290,319 289,744 182,380 121,299
Selling, general and administrative 1,042,556 851,826 859,996 657,275 536,209
Amortization and depreciation 128,093 98,353 112,916 89,356 66,741
Interest 92,159 63,555 45,372 33,463 23,081
Asset impairment,merger, restructuring 

and other charges 274,953 395,925 44,108 20,164 125,379

Total expenses 9,150,230 7,324,267 6,656,286 4,800,141 4,112,228

Income (loss) from continuing 
operations before income tax (254,154) (89,248) 52,954 313,496 153,268

Income tax provision (benefit) (88,996) (21,418) 14,124 124,345 70,169
Income (loss) from continuing operations (165,158) (67,830) 38,830 189,151 83,099
Discontinued operations:

Income (loss) from operations,net of tax – (30,409) 25,084 3,028 18,434
Gain (loss) on disposition,net of tax – (88,845) 20,317

Net income (loss) $ (165,158) $ (187,084) $ 84,231 $ 192,179 $ 101,533

Basic earnings (loss) per share :
Continuing operations $ (1.35) $ (0.55) $ 0.31 $ 1.54 $ 0.73
Income (loss) from discontinued 

operations, net of tax (0.25) 0.20 0.02 0.16
Gain (loss) on disposition of discontinued 

operations,net of tax (0.72) 0.16

Net $ (1.35) $ (1.52) $ 0.67 $ 1.56 $ 0.89

Diluted earnings ( loss) per share :
Continuing operations $ (1.35) $ (0.55) $ 0.31 $ 1.53 $ 0.72
Income (loss) from discontinued

operations,net of tax (0.25) 0.20 0.02 0.16
Gain (loss) on disposition of discontinued 

operations,net of tax (0.72) 0.16

Net $ (1.35) $ (1.52) $ 0.67 $ 1.55 $ 0.88

Operating cash flow $ 100,867 $ (125,872) $ (6,666) $    51,417 – (ii)

Weighted average shares outstanding:
Basic 121,974 123,333 124,453 122,741 113,723
Diluted 121,974 123,333 124,966 123,674 115,658

Balance Sheet Data:
Cash & cash equivalents and investments 

available for sale $1,288,947 $1,112,361 $1,122,916 $ 871,818 $ 840,332
Total assets 3,929,541 4,076,350 3,423,776 2,733,765 2,218,506
Notes paya ble and capital leases – n o n c u rre n t 1,254,278 1,308,979 791,618 547,522 301,356
Stockholders’equity(i) 744,042 895,974 1,183,411 1,068,255 877,466

(i ) No cash dividends were declared in each of the years presented.
(i i ) Information not available.
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Jay Gellert
P resident & Chief Executive Off i c e r
F H S

In August of 1998, Jay Gellert became chief executive officer of FHS. Since his election, Jay’s central mission
has been to focus the company on its core operations to bring needed clarity to the business, reduce corporate
debt and prepare for future growth.

Jay previously served as president and chief operating officer of FHS. Prior to joining the company in 1996, Jay
oversaw strategic advisory engagements for Shattuck Hammond Partners Inc.

In the second half of 1998, we recommitted ourselves to making Foundation Health Systems,Inc.

(FHS) an organization that focuses on the basics of serving the health care needs of our members.

The reason FHS exists,after all,is based on the simple fact that health care is one of the most

important parts of people’s lives. By focusing on the basics of high quality health care and service,

we will demonstrate that managed care works and works well when provided by sound,stable

organizations.By effectively meeting the health care needs of our customers, we can successfully

address the many and often controversial issues sur rounding managed care today. And, in meeting

these needs, we will serve our stockholders’ interests as well.

Thanks to the dedicated and tireless efforts of many in our management team,FHS has made

remarkable progress by focusing on three vital goals: one, strengthen the company by generating

positive cash flow on a consistent basis; two, divest non-core properties that were and are a drain

on our management and financial resources;and three, focus relentlessly on improving the perfor-

mance of our core operations and revamping our management team. For you,our stockholders,it

is most important to remember that FHS possesses outstanding core operations with market-lead-

ing health plans in California,Arizona and the Northeast.We also have interesting oppotunities in

Florida, Oregon and Washington. Our specialty operations include Managed Health Network, one

of the nation’s leading mental health management organizations,as well as growing dental and

vision companies.Finally, we are the leading contractor for the Department of Defense’s Civ i l i a n

Health and Medical Program of the Uniform e d Services (CHAMPUS).These are the core opera-

tions that represent the future of FHS.

In 1998, we addressed several pressing issues. We re s o l ved the cash flow issue, g e n e r a t i n g

m o re than $100 million in positive operating cash flow, despite being negative by more than
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$350 million at mid-ye a r. A new sense of discipline about cash management throughout the

e n t i re organization ve ry clearly paid off.

To focus on core operations, we had to divest non-core operations. F i rst among these was the

sale of our wo r ke rs ’ compensation risk-based operations, which closed in December 1998.We

received approximately $200 million cash at closing.We signed a definitive agreement to sell health

plans in Louisiana,Oklahoma and Texas. We also sold our call center operations for $36 million.

After the year-end, we entered into a definitive agreement to sell our pharmacy processing opera-

tions for $70 million and also entered into agreements to sell health plans in Colorado and New

Mexico.We intend to complete the divestiture of other non-core operations in 1999.

Clearing the decks of our non-core operations is one step forward.To realize the strength of our

core operations,in 1998 we comprehensively revamped the senior management team.

T h e re are three key changes I would like to highlight. F i rs t , our new chief financial officer, S t eve

E r w i n , has assembled a first-rate team that has imposed a tighter financial discipline at FHS. S e c o n d ,

we brought on Karen Coughlin in the Northeast in October. In a short time she has brought her

nearly 20 ye a rs of health care experience to bear on a clarified management stru c t u re and new

medical management leaders h i p.We are now known as Physicians Health Services (PHS) across the

e n t i re Northeast re gi o n , with the successful consolidation of three plans into one in 1998.

A third key step was the appointment of Cora Tellez,a seasoned health plan leader, to head Health

Net,our California health plan. In just a few months,she has had a rejuvenating effect on the

organization.Cora has put together a new management team.They will seek,in 1999,to revive

Health Net’s growth while improving service, quality and margins. Health Net is a strong and

respected player in California and as such, remains at the heart of this company.

In the pages that follow you will hear directly from Steve, Karen and Cora.You will also hear from:

Ed Munno, head of our Arizona division,which managed through a major provider crisis in 1998

with great distinction;GaryVelasquez,who leads our Government and Specialty Services opera-

tions;Bob Bruce, who is responsible for the transition of our Western operations;and Dale Terrell,

our chief technology officer, who will detail our efforts on the Year 2000 (Y2K) project.

As we look to the future of health care, our focus on strong core operations will give FHS a solid

base to meet the increasing demands of sophisticated health care consumers . By focusing on the

basics today and planning for a new and different future, we substantially enhance our ability to serve

the needs of our customers and meet the expectations of our ow n e rs .

Finally, let me recognize the contributions of Dr. Malik Hasan,who resigned as chief executive

officer in August 1998, and from the chairmanship and the board on March 1, 1999.We thank him

for his many years of tireless service. He will always be a part of FHS.

1998 re p resented the beginning of the future for FHS.T h e re is re n ewed focus on the basics thro u g h-

out our management team and among the 14,000 FHS associates.Tog e t h e r, we are determined to

m a ke 1999 a successful year for FHS, our members and for yo u , our stockholders .

Sincerely,

Jay M. Gellert

President and Chief Executive Officer
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Steve Erw i n
Executive Vice President 
& Chief Financial Off i c e r
F H S

Steve Erwin joined the company in March of 1998. Since then, he has applied the same financial discipline
used in banking to FHS, bringing needed clarity and focus to the company’s financial operations. 

Steve has more than 20 years experience in the banking industry. Prior to joining FHS, he most recently served
as executive vice president and chief financial officer of U.S. Bancorp.

Tell us about FHS’ major financial achievements in 1998.

This year’s financial results reflected many strategic and financial initiatives.We identified and began

divesting non-core businesses.We strengthened the balance sheet and produced a remarkable turn-

around in operating cash flow.We established a new seasoned finance group at corporate headquar-

ters, centralizing many aspects of our financial management.

Why did cash flow improve so much during the year?

When I ar rived in March 1998,I implemented a centrally managed rigorous cash forecasting disci-

pline.We focused the operating financial staff on tightening cash management in all respects.We

also elevated cash management to the highest priority with the operating executives.While cash

flow from operations was negative by more than $350 million at mid-year, we ended the year with

positive cash flow of $101 million.This was truly a remarkable achievement when you realize how

quickly a highly focused and disciplined approach turned it around.

What about the overall performance of the company?

As I mentioned earlier, 1998 was a repositioning year for FHS. 1998 also included the full-year

effect of several acquisitions that were finalized in the fourth quarter of 1997, as well as restructur-

ing and other charges.

In 1998, reve nues and health care costs we re both up. E n rollment was essentially flat ove r a l l , as we did

not sacrifice sound pricing economics for the sake of grow t h . Health care costs rose more quickly

than we had planned, p rompting management to implement va rious cost control initiatives in the

t h i rd and fourth quart e rs .We believe these actions will contri bute significantly to our future success.
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Government contracts revenue did rise during the year while the overall financial performance of

this unit remained relatively stable. Specialty Services revenue climbed 7 percent in 1998 as our

mental health and certain other specialty operations continued to grow.The margins and returns in

mental health are especially attractive and we intend to support its growth in the future.

Selling,General and Administrative (SG&A) expenses rose substantially during 1998.Acquisitions

were the single largest reason for the increase, but management is focused on reducing overall

SG&A in the future. Interest expense also rose in 1998,a result of higher borrowings.

We all recognize that we must continue to strengthen the balance sheet.As it is, we did end the

year with $200 million more in cash compared with year-end 1997. Reserves for claims payable

were essentially flat with the level at December 31,1997.This is appropriate and consistent with

overall enrollment. Goodwill and stockholders’ equity did fall during the year, a direct consequence

of the many charges we took to aid in our strategic focus on core operations.

FHS recorded significant charges and write-offs in both the third and fourth quart e r s.W h at were they for?

The total charges for 1998 we re approximately $411 million and comprised many items – rangi n g

f rom re s t ru c t u ring charges, to write-offs associated with divested bu s i n e s s e s , to re c ognizing asset

i m p a i rment charges.These we re ve ry difficult but necessary actions to refocus the company for the

f u t u re. I m p o rt a n t l y, the cash impact of these charges will be less than the total amount of the charges.

FHS is a highly leveraged company.What are you doing to reduce debt?

Debt reduction is a high pri o rity for FHS. Our debt levels rose during the ye a r, but fell at ye a r -

end due to $200 million in proceeds from the sale of the wo r ke rs ’ compensation operations.

We are currently divesting a number of other assets and the funds raised in these asset sales will

be used to further reduce debt. I might add that our banking group has been ve ry support ive

d u ring this pro c e s s .

W h at other initiat ives have been implemented in the financial area and wh at do you plan for next ye a r ?

This past year I centralized the finance function at corporate headquarters and installed a new

financial discipline company-wide.We also implemented a much more detailed review of capital

expenditures.In 1998,capital expenditures,primarily computers and software, was approximately

$150 million.While sophisticated information systems are vital to our business, the 1998 level was

too high.Thanks to our more rigorous review process,1999 capital expenditures should be less

than half the 1998 level.The central planning and budgeting team launched a thorough monthly

forecasting process for both cash and operating results,and we implemented a monthly operating

review process with our operating units. On the accounting side, the corporate controller’s team is

leading a thorough examination of our closing processes to accelerate our monthly closing cycle.

Treasury operations will centralize cash management.Finally, the operating chief financial officers

(CFOs) have elevated their involvement and presence in their businesses while maintaining an

independent financial perspective in our new matrix organizational structure for finance.

We are also instituting a more thorough review of our internal rates of return, examining each of

our core operations to be certain that they are achieving,or have the potential to achieve, returns

in excess of our cost of capital.This is a vital discipline for FHS going forward and one that is

directly in line with the best interests of our stockholders.

I am tremendously proud of the high caliber finance group that was assembled at corporate head-

quarters and the operating CFOs, all of whom continue to make a significant difference for FHS.
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Cora Te l l e z
P resident and Chief Executive Off i c e r
C a l i f o rnia Division

Cora Tellez took over the helm of FHS’ California Division in November of 1998. Her main goal when she arrived
was to clarify operations by focusing Health Net associates on the “vital few.”

Most recently, Cora served as president and chair of Prudential Health Care Plan of California, Inc., and for
more than 20 years, has held several executive management positions with some of the nation’s largest 
health plans. 

How would you characterize Health Net’s performance in 1998?

For too long,I believe Health Net focused its efforts on the “interesting many”and tried to do

everything.This was distracting, and kept us from addressing cost issues in hospital and pharmacy.

My goal is to focus Health Net on the “vital few”– we should then see improvements in Health

Net’s performance. Our charge in 1999 will not be on growth, but on fixing the problems that

hampered our ability to perform better in 1998.

What are the “vital few”?

The “vital few” is a term I coined when I first arrived at Health Net.After reviewing Health Net’s

performance over the last few years, I concluded that if the company could focus on just a few

vital goals, we could improve performance. Health Net’s “vital few”for 1999 focus on achieving

profitable growth, reducing the cost of care and reducing SG&A costs.

We made significant progress in achieving the “vital few”during the last quarter of 1998.I feel

confident that we’ve set attainable goals for 1999 that allow us to meet the performance expecta-

tions of investors, the marketplace and our members.

The health care environment in California is changing. How has Health Net reacted?

We have listened to the marketplace and we’ve responded.In early 1998, we introduced an open

access product that gives consumers greater choice.We’ve enhanced our direct referral program to

give consumers easier access to specialists.In the spring of 1998,Health Net was the first

C a l i f o rnia health plan to adopt an extern a l ,t h i rd party rev i ew program to ensure that our members

receive the care they need.And we continue to focus on quality, which was recognized this year
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when Health Net received three year, Full Accreditation from the National Committee for Quality

Assurance (NCQA).

We’ve also focused on customer service and providing our members and our employer groups 

with the best and most responsive service possible. In 1998, we exceeded nearly every Health Net 

performance standard that we set for our customers and our providers. In fact, one of the state’s

largest purchasers of health care services rated Health Net the best health plan in California in

areas such as service to medical groups, quality and consumer education.

We continue to face great challenges,however. One of Health Net’s largest medical groups

declared bankruptcy in 1998,while others are experiencing similar difficulties.Medical costs,par-

ticularly in the area of pharmacy, continue to rise.And, we continue to increase health care premi-

ums to cover the rising costs of care.

Medical groups seem to be experiencing financial difficulties. How does this change the way Health Net

does business?

It certainly changes the landscape of our industry and makes us more diligent about our re l a t i o n s h i p s

with medical gro u p s .We will continue to work with medical groups that can effectively manage care

and ri s k , and many do this we l l .With those that can’t , we’ll try to help and as a last measure, e s t a bl i s h

direct contracts with physicians to ensure our members are not affected by a medical group’s finan-

cial performance.There were several times in 1998 when we had to establish direct contracts with

p hy s i c i a n s .I ’ve got to hand it to our associates who did a re m a r k a ble job during these instances by

helping most Health Net members keep their relationships with their physicians intact.

I expect that in 1999 we will face similar circumstances with some of our medical gro u p s .While these

situations are never pleasant, we have the processes and contingency plans in place which we

believe will be sufficient to keep as many physicians as we can in our network and ensure our

members have access to health care services.

How did rising medical costs impact Health Net in 1998?

Health Net continues to share financial risk for hospital and other institution costs with medical

groups.In 1998, the levels of utilization and the total costs of care were higher than we had

expected.We will continue to have input in the management of care during hospital stays,simply

because past experience has taught us that we have the infrastructure to manage these costs better

than some of our medical groups.

How is Health Net managing other medical costs such as pharmacy?

Two key factors that drove premium increases in 1998 were rising drug costs and higher drug 

utilization trends.That is why we are so committed to working hard to keep the pharmacy benefit

affordable and comprehensive for our members.To be successful in this endeavor, however, we

must have access to important cost management tools,such as formularies.Without these tools, we

cannot be successful in our goal of protecting this important benefit for our members and keeping

health care premiums affordable.

Why did you join Health Net?

How could I say no? Health Net is an outstanding company with unlimited opportunities and a

stellar reputation. I also knew I could bring valuable industry perspective to the table, based on my

more than 20 years of industry experience with some of the nation’s largest health care companies.

I truly feel as though I’ve been preparing for this opportunity all of my life. I’m excited about

being here and leading a group of outstanding individuals to success in 1999.
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How do you view the Northeast market?

The Northeast market is an area of tremendous growth opportunity for FHS – in particular, the

NewYork City metropolitan area.Managed care is still fairly new to this area, yet the demand for

sensibly priced health care products is very strong.

Physicians Health Services (PHS) offers a wide spectrum of products,including both open access

and gatekeeper products.These products meet employer needs by providing choice, while offering

the opportunity to effectively manage health care costs.

Our growth strategy in the Northeast focuses on bolstering our provider network by establishing

relationships with the area’s leading physician-hospital organizations.During the latter part of

1998, we signed long-term contracts with NewYork University and Montefiore medical centers

and plan on aligning with more hospital-based organizations of this caliber in 1999.

The Northeast’s Medicare product lost a considerable amount of money in 1998.Why?

We lost more than $40 million on Medicare in 1998 for several reasons.Utilization in certain ser-

vice areas was much higher than we anticipated,leading to a Medical Care Ratio (MCR) that was

more than 100%.We also offered Medicare in areas where federal government reimbursement rates

did not cover dramatic increases in the costs of providing quality health care services to seniors.

A considerable amount of work was accomplished in 1998 that will drastically help to contain

future Medicare losses.We left counties where reimbursement rates did not cover quality health

care services.We redesigned the benefit packages.And, we increased premiums.

K a ren Coughlin
P resident and Chief Executive Off i c e r
N o rtheast Division

Karen Coughlin joined the company’s Northeast Division in October of 1998. Her immediate charge when she
accepted the job: turn around FHS’ Northeast operations and successfully bring together three health plans
under one banner.

Prior to joining FHS, Karen served with Humana, Inc. for more than 18 years in several executive management
positions, and most recently led one of Humana’s operating divisions.
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With these kinds of losses, why even stay in this line of business?

If we approach Medicare in the right way, we think there are good opportunities,particularly in

NewYork City.

The reimbursement rates in New York’s five boroughs are consistent with the actual cost of care

and allow us to offer seniors comprehensive benefits.

In addition, we are establishing strong provider relationships with some of New Yo r k ’s finest health

c a re organizations.These groups are centrally located in the areas where we have great growth oppor-

t u n i t i e s and can offer a competitively priced pro d u c t . Most import a n t , these organizations have the

e x p e rtise to effectively manage both the processes of care and sophisticated financial arr a n g e m e n t s .

Last, we truly believe that health plans can help the government manage rising health care costs

that threaten the future of Medicare, and at the same time help improve quality and access to

health care services.

What can you do when health care costs are rising so dramatically?

We need to better manage the costs of providing quality health care services to our members.

Part of this is making sure we have the right relationships in place with physicians and hospitals.We

made great strides on this front in 1998 with new contracts for radiology and lab services.

In addition,during the first quarter of 1999, we entered into a long-term contract based on sound

economics with Connecticut’s largest physician group, the Connecticut State Medical Society

Independent Physician Association.

We also are making sure our internal systems are as efficient as possible. Part of this effort included

instituting a code and patterns review program to ensure PHS is processing the right claims for the

right services.This helps us check for potential billing errors,and most importantly, helps us guard

against potential fraud or abuse.

What were the significant accomplishments in 1998?

Bringing MD Health Plan of Connecticut,First Option Health Plan of New Jersey and PHS

together as a singular business organization was the most significant accomplishment.During the

latter part of 1998, we successfully integrated the operations and information systems of three

health plans,which was truly a monumental task.The Northeast health plan now operates as a sin-

gle organization under the PHS name, and we are the third largest health plan in the tri-state area.

In addition,in 1998 the Medicare plan was developed to drastically contain our Medicare losses 

in 1999.We also began the process of working with providers to re-engineer our medical

management system so PHS can continue to provide consumers with quality health care services 

at affordable prices.

Why did you decide to take on this challenge?

I’ve had such great opportunities throughout my career, starting as a registered nurse at the bedside

then moving on to running hospitals, and now health plans. I also enjoy turn - a round situations and

I truly believe this company has enormous opportunities from both a turn-around and growth

standpoint, and I didn’t want to stand by and miss out.

We offer the right product and receive strong premiums.We have good market share, yet still have

lots of room to g row.We have a strong name.And most import a n t , I think we have the right people

in place to really make things happen in 1999.
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Did any significant developments occur within the Government Division in 1998?

In 1998,the Department of Defense (DoD) was granted the option to extend current contracts

under its CHAMPUS managed care program,known as TRICARE, for up to two years.With

contracts in regions 6 and 11 due to expire in 2000,this could be good news for us. Moreover, if

contracts are extended, we can renegotiate rates based on current medical cost trends.

We also decided to withdraw our contract protest in Region 1.During the latter part of 1997, we

protested the DoD’s award of the Region 1 contract to another company.After careful considera-

tion, we determined we could not achieve a fair economic re t u rn given the bidding circ u m s t a n c e s .

As a result,the DoD and the current contractor agreed to cover the costs we incur red during the

bidding and protest process.

Why is FHS in this line of business?

The company first entered the business in 1988 because we believed that by applying the pri n c i p l e s

of managed care to the government’s health care delivery system,the DoD could better manage

costs and enhance quality.We were right.We now serve as the contractor for three DoD contracts

that provide health care services to 1.5 million beneficiaries and generate approximately $1 billion

in annual revenue for FHS.

Our TRICARE business has helped us grow our behavioral health care business as well.FHS’ sub-

sidiary, Managed Health Network (MHN),serves as the subcontractor on all three TRICARE

contracts, which account for more than 30 percent of MHN’s revenues.

G a ry Ve l a s q u e z
P resident and Chief Executive Off i c e r
G o v e rnment and Specialty Services Divisions

Gary Velasquez oversees two of the company’s divisions, which combined, account for more than 15 percent of
FHS’ total revenue. Gary continually explores new opportunities and partnerships to profitably grow the busi-
nesses he oversees.

Gary joined an FHS predecessor company in 1994 as president and chief operating officer of its behavioral
health care subsidiary and later oversaw operations of its California health plan. 
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How did the Specialty Services Division perform in 1998?

Overall, the Division exceeded performance expectations in 1998.This is really attributable to 

two key factors.First, we have a strong management team in place at each of our core specialty

companies.Second,our core companies have succeeded in finding their market niche.This is 

particularly evident with Managed Health Network,which in just a few short years has become

one of the nation’s leading behavioral health care companies.

What did MHN’s performance look like in 1998?

MHN turned in a strong performance in 1998.Covered lives grew by more than 17 percent,

with most growth coming from FHS health plans in the Northeast and in California.We also

experienced significant growth from our “non-family” business,particularly in the area of

Employee Assistance Programs (EAPs).

MHN’s clientele include many Fortune 500 companies that are continually looking for ways to

retain good employees by providing valuable employment services.These companies are turning to

MHN to design and enhance EAPs that improve the quality of life for their employees and their

employees’ families.

How is Integrated Pharmaceutical Services (IPS) doing?

Several mergers and acquisitions within the industry really changed the dynamics of the pharmacy

benefit management business.IPS’ business,however, remained unchanged in 1998.It still per-

formed well,primarily by focusing its resources on FHS health plan operations, where IPS experi-

enced most of its growth in 1998.

Does IPS have any external growth opportunities?

IPS’opportunities for external growth have always been somewhat limited,mainly because 

other health plans do not want to partner with a pharmacy benefit management company owned

by a competitor.We responded to this and the changing dynamics of the industry in 1998 by

developing plans to reorganize the services IPS provides to FHS health plans and external clients.

In February of 1999, we reached a definitive agreement with Advance Paradigm, Inc. to sell certain

pharmacy management services that did not fit with FHS’core operations.This will allow IPS to

concentrate its efforts on providing key pharmacy benefit services to FHS health plans.

How does IPS help FHS health plans?

In light of the more than $1.3 billion FHS spent in 1998 on pharmaceuticals, we are focused on

helping FHS health plans best manage pharmacy benefits,formularies and rising pharmacy costs.

This helps FHS provide consumers a benefit that is both comprehensive and affordable, giving 

our members g reater access to medications through new benefit plans and increased 

manufacturer discounts.

How did dental and vision do in 1998? Are there future opportunities in these markets?

Both DentiCare of California and AVP Vision Plan operated profitably in 1998.While their

growth was modest, they focused on profitable business and did quite well.

We think there is g reat opportunity in both of these markets for FHS.We are viewing these 

businesses the same way we viewed the opportunities in mental health in the early 1990s.Like the

dental and vision industry today, the mental health market was ve ry fragmented, l a c ked competition

and was based on an unorganized delivery system.We’ve applied the lessons we learned in mental

health to our dental and vision business model, and the results have been positive so far.
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What were the highlights of 1998?

The most significant highlight occurred during the middle of 1998 when our largest medical

group declared bankruptcy.As this crisis unfolded, we literally rolled up our sleeves and worked

day and night to ensure that our members had access to physicians and health care services.

Although almost half of our membership was affected,Intergroup lost very few members, and

with our help, 80% of the doctors were able to remain in our network under other arrangements.

This is a testament to how well our dedicated associates handled this very challenging situation.

From this event,however, we learned an important lesson:Stabilizing our physician and hospital

network is critical to Intergroup’s future.

How do medical groups fit with Intergroup’s future?

We believe the position of medical groups is waning in Arizona.Over the last few years, we’ve

seen several groups experience financial difficulties that put them out of business.

Intergroup has responded by taking back much of the financial risk and responsibilities we previ-

ously delegated to g roups.Now Intergroup’s primary reimbursement model is based on contract-

ing directly with primary care physicians and specialists.We think this strategy makes the best sense

in light of our 1998 experiences and the evolving health care environment.

How is Intergroup preparing for future growth?

I n t e r group is well positioned for future grow t h .We have the staying powe r. Our name is we l l - k n ow n

throughout the state because we’ve been around for more than 17 years. Intergroup is financially

s t a ble and, u n l i ke some of our competitors , we did not underp rice our business to gain market share.

We also have a tremendous opportunity in Medicare. Our product is very popular with seniors

because we offer a strong benefit package that is based on sound economics.

Ed Munno
P resident and Chief Executive Officer 
Arizona Division

Ed Munno joined an FHS predecessor company in 1991. Since then, he has moved quickly through the ranks,
and for the last four years, has overseen the operations of one of Arizona’s oldest and largest health plans.

Prior to his Arizona appointment in 1995, Ed had served in several executive positions with the predecessor 
company’s California health plan.



Dale Te rre l l
Senior Vice President & 
Chief Technology Off i c e r
F H S

Dale Terrell joined the company in January of 1998. For the last year, he has focused on integrating multiple
information technology systems, applications and platforms. He also spearheads FHS’ Year 2000 project. 

Dale came to FHS from the banking industry, where he most recently served as executive vice president of
Technology Services for Banc One Services Corporation. 

What is FHS’ information technology philosophy?

Two wo rds best describe FHS’ i n f o rmation technology philosophy :s t a n d a rdization and consistency.

We formed an information technology utility in 1998 to standardize information systems,

such as desktop support services,networks and computer operations.Through this process, we

will consolidate seven information technology centers into two, increasing our efficiency and

allowing FHS entities to better communicate.

We also are working to bring consistency to all FHS systems.While each entity has different needs,

it is important for all systems to connect, interact and commu n i c a t e, p a rticularly in the electronic age.

How will this philosophy help FHS in the future?

Our philosophy was developed with FHS’ future in mind.With most industries moving toward

electronic commerce, health care is not far behind. If we want to compete, we must standardize

and focus on consistency throughout our information technology systems.We need to be leaders

in connecting to our members, providers and customers.

How is FHS preparing for Year 2000 (Y2K)?

We are on schedule with our Y2K program.We’ve already completed the “identification”and

“correction” stage.The first half of 1999 is being devoted to testing and verification.While we are

confident with the results so far, we remain focused on successfully completing the process.

Our goal is to ensureY2K does not inter rupt services we provide to our members.Central to

FHS’strategy, however, is the preparedness of our business partners.We are actively working with

key groups we interface with to ensure that their systems also areY2K compliant.

Our overall Y2K budget is approximately $43 million.We’ve managed our Y2K costs as part of our

ongoing information technology budget,and that’s good news.
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Florida is the only core health plan in the Central Division. How did it do in 1998?

The plan has repeatedly demonstrated its ability to manage quality patient care for seniors, and

1998 was no exception.The Florida Medicare market is extremely competitive, yet we were still

able to offer excellent benefit packages to seniors and maintain favorable MCRs.

In addition, we made significant progress in bringing commercial pricing in line with actual 

medical cost trends.In the past,the commercial market in Florida was extremely underpriced,

making it difficult to market actuarially sound products. Last, we received three year, Full

Accreditation from NCQA – a testament to our commitment to quality.

Other health plans in the Central Division struggled to perform in 1998.Why?

Health plans in Colorado, O regon and Washington clearly had unit cost pro bl e m s . P roducts we re

u n d e rp ri c e d , leading to higher than anticipated MCRs. Significant progress was made in the latter

half of 1998 to re p rice our book of business and stabilize health plan reve nue in 1999.

We also withdrew from Medicare service areas that did not make good economic sense. By

redesigning benefit packages and increasing average premiums, we’ve created a positive economic

outlook for our Medicare business in 1999.

What is the future of the Service Center in Pueblo, Colorado?

In 1998, we restructured Service Center operations to improve efficiency and reduce administra-

tive costs.This included a rightsizing effort to reflect recent membership losses suffered by several

Central Division health plans.

As FHS divests certain non-core assets,decentralizes services and consolidates operations, we will

continue to retool operations in Pueblo. In the meantime, our main goal is to operate the Service

Center as efficiently as possible and provide quality health care services to our customers.

J. Robert Bru c e
P resident 
Central Division

Bob Bruce, a seasoned leader with more than 30 years of industry experience, was appointed to lead the
Central Division in June of 1998. He oversees the operations of nine very different health plans that, together,
provide health care coverage to more than 600,000 members. 

He joined an FHS predecessor company in 1992, and has since served in executive positions with several FHS
subsidiaries throughout the country.
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Market for Registrant’s Common Equity
and Related Stockholder Matters

The following table sets forth the high and low sales
prices of the Company's Class A Common Stock,
par value $.001 per share (the “Class A Common
Stock”), on The NewYork Stock Exchange, Inc.
(“NYSE”) since January 2,1996.

High Low

Calendar Quarter – 1996
First Quarter 371⁄8 303⁄8
Second Quarter 371⁄8 267⁄8
Third Quarter 287⁄8 193⁄8
Fourth Quarter 291⁄8 225⁄8

Calendar Quarter – 1997
First Quarter 303⁄4 231⁄8
Second Quarter 333⁄4 241⁄4
Third Quarter 3315⁄16 2911⁄16

Fourth Quarter 333⁄8 221⁄16

Calendar Quarter – 1998
First Quarter 291⁄16 221⁄4
Second Quarter 325⁄8 253⁄8
Third Quarter 267⁄8 93⁄8
Fourth Quarter 153⁄4 57⁄8

Calendar Quarter – 1999
First Quarter

(through March 29,1999) 127⁄16 711⁄16

On March 29,1999,the last reported sales
price per share of the Class A Common Stock was
$11.0625 per share.
Dividends
No dividends have been paid by the Company dur-
ing the preceding two fiscal years.The Company has
no present intention of paying any dividends on its
Common Stock.

The Company is a holding company and,
therefore, its ability to pay dividends depends on dis-
tributions received from its subsidiaries,which are
subject to regulatory net worth requirements and
c e rtain additional state regulations which may re s t ri c t
the declaration of dividends by HMOs,insurance
companies and licensed managed health care plans.
The payment of any dividend is at the discretion 
of the Company’s Board of Directors and depends
upon the Company's earnings, financial position,
capital requirements and such other factors as the
Company’s Board of Directors deems relevant.

Under the Credit Agreement entered into 
on July 8,1997 with Bank of America as agent,the
Company cannot declare or pay cash dividends to
its stockholders or purchase, redeem or otherwise
acquire shares of its capital stock or warrants, rights
or options to acquire such shares for cash except to
the extent permitted under such Credit Ag reement
as described elsewhere in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K.
Holder s
As of March 29,1999,there were approximately
2,000 holders of record of Class A Common Stock.
The California Wellness Foundation (the “CWF”) 
is the only holder of record of the Company's 
Class B Common Stock,par value $.001 per share
(the “Class B Common Stock”) which constitutes
approximately 4% of the Company’s aggregate equi-
ty. Under the Company’s Fourth Amended and
Restated Certificate of Incorporation,shares of the
Company’s Class B Common Stock have the same
economic benefits as shares of the Company ’s Class A
Common Stock, but are non-voting.Upon the sale
or other transfer of shares of Class B Common Stock
by the CWF to an unrelated third party, such shares
automatically convert into Class A Common Stock.
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M a n a g e m e n t ’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition 
and Results of Operations

Foundation Health Systems,Inc. (together with its
subsidiaries,the “Company”) is an integrated man-
aged care organization which administers the delive ry
of managed health care services.The Company’s
operations consist of two operating segments: Health
Plan Services and Government Contracts/Specialty
S e rv i c e s .T h rough its subsidiari e s , the Company offers
group, individual,Medicaid and Medicare health
maintenance organization (“HMO”) and prefer red
provider organization (“PPO”) plans;government
sponsored managed care plans; and managed care
products related to administration and cost contain-
ment,behavioral health, dental,vision and pharma-
ceutical products and other services.

The Health Plan Services segment consists 
of HMOs organized into four operational divisions
located in the following geographic regions: the
California Division,the Northeast Division,the
Central Division and the Arizona Division.These
health plans are located in Arizona, California,Col-
orado, Connecticut, Florida,Idaho, Louisiana,New
Jersey, New Mexico, NewYork, Ohio, Oklahoma,
Oregon, Pennsylvania,Texas,Utah,Washington and
West Virginia.The Company’s health plans provide 
a wide range of managed health care services
throughout the United States with approximately
4.2 million at risk and administrative services only
members.The Company’s HMO subsidiaries con-
tract to provide medical care services to a defined,
enrolled population for a predetermined,prepaid
monthly fee for g roup, Medicaid,individual and
Medicare plans throughout their respective service
areas.All of the HMOs are state licensed and some
are also federally qualified.The Company also oper-
ates PPO networks which provide access to health
care services and owns six health and life insurance
companies licensed to sell insurance throughout 
the United States.

The Gove rnment Contracts/Specialty Serv i c e s
segment administers large, mu l t i - year managed health
c a re gove rnment contracts.This segment subcontracts
to affiliated and unrelated third parties the administra-
tion and health care risk of parts of these contracts

and currently administers health care programs cove r-
ing approximately 1.6 million eligible individuals
under the Civilian Health and Medical P rogram of
the Uniformed Services (“CHAMPUS”) through
the TRICARE program.Currently, the Company
provides these services under three TRICARE 
contracts that cover Alaska,Arkansas,California,
Hawaii,Oklahoma,Oregon,Texas,Washington and
parts of Arizona,Idaho and Louisiana.This segment
also offers behavioral health,dental,and vision ser-
vices as well as managed care products related to 
bill review, administration and cost containment 
for hospitals,health plans and other entities.

This discussion and analysis contains “ f o r wa rd -
looking statements”within the meaning of the 
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995.
Forward-looking statements involve risks and 
uncertainties [detailed from time to time in the
Company’s filings with the Securities and Exchange
Commission (the “Commission”)] which may cause
actual results to differ materially from those pro-
jected or implied in these statements.The risks and
uncertainties faced by the Company include, but are
not limited to, those set forth under “Additional
Information Concerning the Company’s Business,”
“Cautionary Statements”and other sections within
the Company’s filings with the Commission.

Consolidated Operating Results
The Company ’s net loss from continuing opera-
tions for the year ended December 31,1998 was
$165.2 million,or $1.35 per diluted share, compared
to a net loss from continuing operations for the
same period in 1997 of $67.8 million,or $.55 per
diluted share.

During the year ended December 31,1998,
the Company recorded asset impairment, restructur-
ing and other charges totaling $410.9 million on a
p re-tax basis (the “1998 Charges”),or $2.13 per
diluted share, net of taxes.The Company recorded
$395.9 million and $44.1 million related to asset
impairment, merger, restructuring and other charges
during 1997 and 19 9 6 , re s p e c t ive l y.These charges are
f u rther descri b e d in “Asset Impairment,Merger,
Restructuring and Other Charges” below. Excluding
these charges and the results of discontinued opera-
tions,the basic and diluted earnings per share for
the years ended December 31, 1998, 1997 and 1996
were $.78, $1.89 and $.57, respectively.
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The table below and the discussion that follows summarize the Company’s performance in the last three 
fiscal years.

Year Ended December 31,

(Amounts in thousands) 1998 1997 1996

Total revenues $8,896,076 $7,235,019 $6,709,240

Expenses:
Health plan services expenses(i) 6,547,747 4,912,532 4,598,074
Government contracts and specialty services expenses 1,064,722 1,002,076 995,820
Selling,general and administrative 1,042,556 851,826 859,996
Amortization and depreciation 128,093 98,353 112,916
Interest 92,159 63,555 45,372
Asset impairment, restructuring,merger, and othercharges(i) 274,953 395,925 44,108

Total expenses 9,150,230 7,324,267 6,656,286

Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxe s $(254,154) $ (89,248) $ 52,954

Overall medical care ratio 86.5% 83.1% 84.5%
Administrative expense ratio 12.4% 12.6% 13.6%
Health Plan Services Segment:
Health plan premiums $7,440,981 $5,829,444 $5,395,125
Health plan medical care ratio 88.0% 84.3% 85.2%
Health plan premiums per member per month $ 143.43 $ 137.96 $ 135.17
Health plan services per member per month $ 126.24 $ 116.26 $ 115.20
G o v e rnment Contracts / Specialty Services Segment:
Government contracts and specialty services revenues $1,356,054 $1,291,275 $1,225,723
Government contracts and specialty services 

expenses medical care ratio 78.5% 77.6% 81.2%

(i) 1998 Charges of $275.0 million are included in asset impairment, restructuring,merger and 

other charges and $135.9 million are included primarily in health plan services expenses.

E n rollment Inform a t i o n
Year Ended December 31, Percent Percent
(Amounts in thousands) 1998 1997 Change 1996 Change

Health Plan Services:
Commercial 3,287 3,522 (6.7)% 2,774 27.0%
Medicare Risk 326 308 5.8% 237 30.0%
Medicaid 586 442 32.6 % 315 40.3%

4,199 4,272 (1.7)% 3,326 28.4%

Government Contracts:
CHAMPUS PPO and Indemnity 784 1,090 (28.1)% 1,035 5.3%
CHAMPUS HMO 783 801 (2.2)% 543 47.5%

1,567 1,891 (17.1)% 1,578 19.8%
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Revenues and Health Care Costs
The Company’s revenues grew by $1.7 billion or
23% for the year ended December 31,1998 as com-
pared to 1997. Growth in health plan revenues of
$1.6 billion for the year was due primarily to the
acquisitions that occurred in the fourth quarter of
1997,including Physicians Health Services,Inc.
(“PHS”), FOHP, Inc. (“FOHP”) and PACC HMO,
Inc. and PACC Health Plans, Inc. (collectively
“PACC”).Excluding these acquisitions, revenues
grew by $1 billion for the year ended December 31,
1998.The growth from existing health plan busi-
nesses was due to increases in premium rates in 
virtually all markets and significant increases in
Medicaid enrollment in California.Growth in gov-
ernment contracts revenues totaled $40.3 million
and growth in specialty services revenues totaled
$24.5 million. See “Segment Reporting”for discus-
sion of Government Contracts/Specialty Services.

The Company ’s reve nues grew by $525.8 mil-
lion or 7.8% for the year ended December 31, 1997
as compared to 19 9 6 .G rowth in reve nues for the ye a r
was due to slightly higher health plan premiums for
the Company ’s commercial membership and member-
ship growth in Medicaid contracts in California,
commercial membership growth in the Northeast,
and the partial year impact of acquisitions that
occurred in the second and fourth quarters of 1997.
Investment and other income was $99.0 million,
$114.3 million and $88.4 million in 19 98, 1997 and
19 9 6 , re s p e c t ive l y.The increase in 19 9 7 was primarily
related to non-recurring gains from the sale of
certain holdings and Medicaid contracts.

The overall medical care ratio (“MCR”)
(medical costs as a percentage of revenue) for the
year ended December 31,1998 was 86.5% as com-
pared to 83.1% for the year ended December 31,
1997.The increase was primarily due to higher
pharmacy costs in all divisions,benefit cost increases
which exceeded premium rate increases, increased
utilization and continued pricing pressures through-
out the Company’s health plans.Excluding the 1998
Charges,the MCR was 85.0%.

The overall MCR for the year ended Decem-
b e r 31,1997 was 83.1% compared to 84.5% for the
year ended December 31, 1996.The decline is due
primarily to higher medical costs and loss contracts
that negatively impacted the MCR in 1996 as well
as favorable reserve development in 1997 in certain
of the Company’s health plans as well as improved
health care and subcontractor performance on cer-
tain government contracts.The 1997 reduction in

MCR was offset slightly by escalating health care
costs including higher pharmacy costs coupled with
a relatively flat premium environment,particularly 
in the California market and throughout the 
Company’s health plans.

Selling, General and Administrative Costs
The Company’s selling, general and administrative
(“SG&A”) expenses increased by $190.7 million or
22.4% for the year ended December 31, 1998 as
compared to 1997.The increase in SG&A expenses
during 1998 is primarily due to the SG&A expenses
associated with the businesses a c q u i red duri n g
1 9 9 7 .The administrative expense ratio (SG&A as a
percentage of health plan and government contracts
revenue) d e c reased to 12.4% for the year ended
D e c e m b er 31, 1998 from 12.6% for the year ended
December 31, 1997.This decrease is primarily attrib-
utable to the Company’s ongoing efforts to aggres-
sively control its SG&A expenses and synergy
savings associated with the integration of its 1997
acquisitions which we re partially offset by incre a s e d
e x p e n d i t u res re l a t e d to consolidation and i n t e gr a t i o n
of the Company ’s administrative fa c i l i t i e s . Excluding
the 1998 Charges,the administrative expense ratio
was 12.2%.

The Company’s SG&A expenses decreased by
$8. 2 million or 1.0% for the year ended December 31,
1997 as compared to 19 9 6 .The administrative
expense ratio decreased to 12.6% for the year ended
December 31,1997 as compared to 13.6% for the
year ended December 3 1 ,1 9 9 6 .This decrease re f l e c t s
the Company ’s ongoing efforts to aggre s s ively contro l
its SG&A expenses and synergy savings associated
with the integration of Health Systems Intern a t i o n a l ,
Inc. and Foundation Health Corporation after the
merger transaction (the “FHS Combination”) invo l v-
ing such entities.This decrease was offset partially by
additional SG&A expenses associated with the new
acquisitions during 1997.

A m o rtization and Depre c i a t i o n
Amortization and depreciation expense increased 
by $29.7 million in 1998 due to increases in intan-
gible assets and fixed assets as a result of the acquisi-
tions that occurred in the fourth quarter of 1997 
and increased expenditures primarily related to the
consolidation and integration of the Company’s
administrative facilities.

A m o rtization and depreciation expense
declined by $14.6 million for the year ended
D e c e m b e r 3 1 , 1997 as compared to 1996 due to
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certain intangible assets becoming fully amortized
by the end of 1996, fixed assets becoming fully
depreciated in early 1997 and fixed asset write-offs
primarily associated with the Company’s restructur-
ing plans discussed below.

I n t e rest Expense
Interest expense increased by $28.6 million due to
increased borrowings under the revolving credit
facility coupled with a higher borrowing rate in 1998 
as compared to 1997. Interest expense increased by
$18.2 million in 1997 as compared to 1996 due to
higher debt levels associated with the Company ’s
revolving lines of credit partially offset by lower
interest rates.

Asset Impairment,  Merg e r, Restructuring and Other Charg e s
On July 19,1998, FPA Medical Management,Inc.
(“FPA”) filed for bankruptcy protection under
Chapter 11 of the Federal Bankruptcy Code. FPA,
through its affiliated medical groups,provided ser-
vices to approximately 190,000 of the Company’s
affiliated members in Arizona and California.FPA
has discontinued its medical group operations in
these markets.As a result,the Company is seeking
new tenants for, or will sell,the 13 healthcare facili-
ties it leased to FPA in these markets and has made
other arrangements for provider services to the
Company’s affiliated members.To date, the Com-
pany has sold three of these healthcare facilities.

Management’s analysis of this situation indi-
cated that the likely replacement lease terms from
these properties will be inadequate to enable the
C o m p a ny to sell the facilities and re c over their carry-
ing value. Based on management’s best estimate of
recovery for the real estate and the impairment 
of notes receivable and other Company assets due to
the FPA bankruptcy filing,the Company recorded 
a charge of $50.0 million during the second quarter
ended June 30,1998.The Company recorded an
additional $28.1 million during the third quarter
ended September 30,1998 which was primarily
related to additional impairment of the value of real
estate assets leased to FPA and an additional $6.0 mil-
lion during the fourth quarter ended December 31,
1998 which was related to the FPA bankruptcy.
Elements of the second,third and fourth quarter
charges included approximately $63.0 million for re a l
estate asset impairm e n t s ,a p p roximately $10.0 m i l l i o n
for a note receivable impairment and $11.1 million 
for other items related to FPA.

D u ring the third quarter ended September 30,
1998,excluding the charges totaling $28.1 million
related to the FPA bankru p t c y, the Company re c o rd e d
$146.9 million of restructuring and other charges.
These charges included (i) $87.0 million re l a t e d
primarily to premium deficiency reserves for the
Company’s Medicare operations in the Northeast
division, payment disputes with various provider
groups,and costs associated with contract termina-
tions and exiting rural markets which were recorded
as health care costs;(ii) $21.2 million related to
severance and benefits related to staff reductions in
selected health plans and the centralization and con-
solidation of Corporate functions;(iii) $18.6 million
related to the bankruptcy of a large hospital system;
and (iv) $20.1 million of other costs primarily
related to premium deficiency reserves established
for certain of the Company’s non-core health plan
operations.As of December 31,1998,$40.9 million
of the total $175.0 million of the third quarter
charges described above has resulted in cash outlay s
and $27.5 million is expected to require future
outlays of cash.

D u ring the fourth quarter ended December 31,
19 9 8 , the Company initiated a formal plan to dispose
of certain Central Division health plans included in
the Company ’s Health Plan Services segment. It is
anticipated that the dive s t i t u re of these plans will be
completed during the first half of 1999.The Company
evaluated the carrying values of the assets of these
health plans and determined that the carrying va l u e
exceeded estimated fair value by $112.4 million.As a
re s u l t , the Company re c o rded an impairment charge
which is attri bu t a ble to the following assets: G o o d-
will totaling $30.0 million,furniture and equipment
t o t a l i n g $40.3 million, building improvements total-
i n g $20.9 million and other impairments totaling
$21.2 million. In addition, the Company re c o rd e d
$48.9 million pri m a rily as health care costs.T h e s e
costs we re pri m a rily related to anticipated bad debts
totaling $17.4 million, p remium deficiency re s e rve s
of $22.1 million for certain health plans whose
health care costs exceed contractual premium reve-
nues and additional claims reserves and other costs
totaling $9.4 million.The Company also re c o rd e d
an additional $18.6 million of other charges. As 
of December 31,1998,$6.0 million of the total
$185.9 million of the fourth quarter charges re s u l t e d
in cash outlays and $50.1 million is expected to
require future outlays of cash.
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As set forth above, the total 1998 Charges
recorded by the Company were $410.9 million.

Restructuring,merger and other charges of
$395.9 million were recorded during the year ended
D e c e m b e r 31, 1997 related to the FHS Combination
and the restructuring of the Company’s Eastern
D ivision health plans.The principal elements of these
charges included ( i) re s t ru c t u ring costs of $146.8 mil-
lion for a wo r k f o rce re d u c t i o n , the consolidation of
e m p l oye e benefit plans,the consolidation of facilities
in geographic locations where office space is dupli-
cated, the consolidation of overlapping provider net-
works,and the consolidation of information systems
to standardized systems;(ii) $69.6 million in merger
related costs primarily for investment banking,legal,
accounting and other costs;(iii) premium deficiency
reserves of $57.5 million related to the Company’s
Gem Insurance Company (“Gem”) and (iv) other
charges of $122.0 million primarily related to other
costs for certain of the Company’s non-core opera-
tions. As of December 31,1998, $86.9 million of
the net 1997 re s t ru c t u ring charge has resulted in cash
outlays and $13.8 million is expected to require
future outlays of cash.

D u ring 19 9 6 , the Company re c o rded 
$44.1 million of restructuring and other charges.
These charges were primarily comprised of restruc-
turing costs of $27.4 million and $16.7 million of
other costs including loss contract accruals related to
governmental employer groups in the Company’s
non-California markets,consulting and other costs.

Income Tax Provision and Benefit
The effective tax benefit rate of 35.0% on losses
from continuing operations for the year e n d e d
December 31, 1998 increased compared to the effec-
tive tax benefit rate on continuing operations of
24.0% for the year ended 1997.The increased tax
benefit rate was due primarily to nondeductible
merger and restructuring costs during 1997. The
1996 effective tax provision rate on income of
26.7% differs from the statutory tax rate primarily
due to various items including tax exempt interest
income and a settlement of an Internal Revenue
Service examination.

SEGMENT REPORT I N G
Health Plan Serv i c e s

Health plan revenues increased by $1.6 billion or
27.6% primarily due to enrollment increases in the
commercial, Medicare and Medicaid lines of busi-
ness in the Northeast Division that was acquired in
the fourth quarter of 1997.These acquisitions con-
tributed approximately $977.8 million in revenues
during the year ended December 31,1998.In addi-
tion,Medicaid enrollment growth in the California
division and premium rate increases for all divisions
contributed to the overall increase in revenues for
the health plans.

Revenues generated by the Company’s health
plan operations increased $434.3 million or 8.1% 
f o r the period ended December 31,1997 compared
to the same period in 1996.The increase in reve nu e s
for the year ended December 31,1997 as compared
to the same period in 1996 is primarily due to
enrollment increases in the Medicaid lines of busi-
ness and enrollment and premium increases in the
Medicare lines of business in California,commercial
enrollment increases in Connecticut and Arizona,
and the partial year impact of the acquisitions of
Advantage Health in Pennsylvania,FOHP in New
Jersey, and PACC in Oregon.

Health plan health care costs increased by
33.3% for the year ended December 31,1998 as
compared to 1997 primarily as a result of enroll-
ment increases in the Northeast Division, Medicaid
enrollment growth in the California Division,phar-
macy cost increases in all divisions and additional
health care costs from the 1998 Charges totaling
$104.3 million.The health plans MCR increased
from 84.3% in 1997 to 88.0% in 1998 due to higher
medical costs particularly in physician and hospital
fee for service costs,increase in pharmacy costs and
increased utilization.Excluding the 1998 Charges,
the health plans MCR was 86.6%.

Health plan health care costs increased by
6.8% for the year ended December 31, 1997 as
compared to 1996.In the California market,health
care costs increased as a result of higher pharmacy
costs for both the commercial and Medicare lines of
business, increased provider contracting arrange-
ments,increased hospital utilization in the Medicare
line of business,and increased enrollment in the
Medicaid line of business.While health care costs
increased during 1997,the health plans MCR
declined to 84.3% for the year ended December 31,
1997 from 85.2% for the comparable period in 1996
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primarily due to higher medical costs in 1996 and
favorable loss reserve development in certain health
plan operations during 1997.

The Company’s commercial product lines are
profitable. Premium rate increases in the commercial
line of products contributed to revenue increases 
for the year ended December 31,1998 as compared
to the same period in the prior year in all divisions
of the Company, but were partially offset by enroll-
ment decreases in commercial HMO markets in
California and the health plans in the western and
central states. Commercial health care costs on a per
member per month basis have increased 8.1% dur-
ing the year ended December 31,1998 as compared
to the year ended December 31,1997.

The Company ’s Medicare product lines in the
C a l i f o rnia market are pro f i t a bl e, but are experi e n c i n g
l ower margins than in the prior ye a r.The Medicare
p roducts in the Company ’s Northeast health plans
h ave shown an underwriting loss of approx i m a t e l y
$32.9 million for the year ended December 31,
1 9 9 8 .M e d i c a re premium rates and enrollment have
i n c reased in the Northeast marke t s , but enro l l m e n t
rates are expected to slow. M e d i c a re health care costs
in the California and Northeast markets continue to
i n c rease faster than premium rates.

Medicaid enrollment in the California divi-
sion has increased significantly resulting in a 53.9%
increase in member months during the year ended
December 31,1998,compared to 1997. However,
Medicaid premium rates have decreased in all mar-
ke t s . Medicaid health care costs have remained steady
or decreased on a per member per month basis in all
of the Company’s markets except for several of its
We s t e rn health plans, which have experienced higher
costs due to several high cost claims.

G o v e rnment Contracts/Specialty Serv i c e s
G ove rnment contracts reve nue increased by
$40.2 million or 4.2% during the year ended
December 31,1998 as compared to 1997 primarily
due to the full year effect of the retroactive pricing
adjustment in the third quarter of 1997 which re d u c e d
1997 contract prices,as well as from growth in 1998
due to actuarial adjustments in risk share revenue
and favorable equitable adjustments resulting from

governmental audits.Government contracts revenue
increased by $40.4 million or 4.4% for the year
ended December 31, 1997,compared to 1996 as a
result of the California/Hawaii CHAMPUS 
contract being active for only 9 months in 1996
compared to a full year in 1997.

Specialty services revenues increased by
$24.5 million or 7.2% during the year ended Decem-
ber 31,1998 as compared to 1997.These increases
are primarily the result of higher drug manufacturer
rebates,new business as a result of the FHS Combi-
nation,and continued growth in the Company’s
managed behavioral health network and bill review
cost containment businesses.Specialty services rev-
enues increased by $25.1 million or 7.9% for the
year ended December 31,1997 as compared to the
same period in 1996 primarily due to the impact of
a full year’s revenue from Managed Health Network,
Inc. which was acquired in Marc h 1 9 9 6 .The incre a s e
in reve nu e was offset somewhat by the sale of cer-
tain ancillary health care service operations in 1996
and reduced reve nue from va rious ASO operations.
The Company expects continued market pressure to
maintain modest increases in premiums for behav i o r a l
health,dental and vision products.

The government contracts/specialty services
MCR increased to 78.5% for 1998 compared to
77.6% for 1997. Excluding the 1998 Charges, t h i s
r a t i o was 77.4%.This increase for 1998 is primarily
due to (i) the effect of the 1998 Charges (ii) incre a s e d
pharmacy costs and higher health care claim costs
on CHAMPUS contracts and (iii) the elimination of
the Medicaid contract administration business which
was sold in 1997 which contributed to revenues
with no offsetting health care costs.The government
contracts/specialty services MCR decreased to
77.6% for 1997 compared to 81.2% in 1996.This
decrease for 1997 is primarily due to improved
health care and subcontractor performance on the
CHAMPUS contracts and due to adverse reserve
development recognized in the fourth quarter of
1996 which resulted in a higher than usual MCR
during 1996.
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DISCONTINUED OPERAT I O N S
Workers’ Compensation Insurance Business

In December 1997,the Company adopted a formal
plan to sell its workers’ compensation segment.In
December 1997,the Company estimated the loss on
the disposal of the workers’ compensation segment
would approximate $99.0 million (net of an income
tax benefit of $21.0 million) which included the
anticipated results of operations during the phase-
out period from December 1997 through the date
of disposal.On December 10,1998,the Company
completed the sale of the workers’ compensation
segment.The assets sold consisted primarily of
investments,premiums and reinsurance receivables.
The selling price was $257 million in cash.

Physician Practice Management Business
On June 28,1996 the Company executed a Stock
and Note Purchase Agreement with FPA for the
purchase by FPA of the Company’s medical prac-
tices (the “Medical Practices”).The transaction was
consummated in Nove m b e r 1996 and the Company
re c ognized a net of tax gain on sale of $20.3 m i l l i o n ,
net of $17.6 million of taxes,in 1996. In 1997,the
Company recognized an additional $10.1 million
gain on the sale, net of $2.8 million of taxes,as a
result of the final settlement of certain contractual
provisions.The income and loss on discontinued
operations,net of taxes,for the Medical Practices
was $2.9 million during 1996.The results were
primarily due to insufficient patient volume being
served by the Medical Practices.The 1996 loss was
reduced by a gain of $10.8 million related to the
sale of various independent practice associations.

Impact of Inflation and Other Elements
The managed health care industry is labor intensive
and its profit margin is low;hence, it is especially
sensitive to inflation.Increases in medical expenses
or contracted medical rates without corresponding
increases in premiums could have a material adverse
effect on the Company.

Various federal and state legislative initiatives
regarding the health care industry have been pro-
posed during recent legislative sessions,and health
care reform and similar issues continue to be in the
forefront of social and political discussion.If health

care reform or similar legislation is enacted, such
legislation could impact the Company. Management
cannot at this time predict whether any such initia-
tive will be enacted and,if enacted,the impact on
the financial condition or results of operations of 
the Company.

The Company ’s ability to expand its business is
dependent, in part,on competitive premium pricing
and its ability to secure cost-effective contracts with
providers.Achieving these objectives is becoming
i n c reasingly difficult due to the competitive env i ro n-
ment.In addition,the Company’s profitability is
d e p e n d e n t , in part , on its ability to maintain effective
control over health care costs while providing mem-
bers with quality care. Factors such as health care
reform,integration of acquired companies, regula-
tory changes,utilization,new technologies,hospital
costs,major epidemics and numerous other external
influences may affect the Company ’s operating re s u l t s .
Accordingly, past financial performance is not neces-
sarily a reliable indicator of future performance, and
investors should not use historical records to antici-
pate results or future period trends.

The Company’s HMO and insurance subsid-
iaries are required to maintain reser ves to cover their
estimated ultimate liability for expenses with respect
to reported and unreported claims incurred.These
reserves are estimates of future payments based on
various assumptions.Establishment of appropriate
reserves is an inherently uncertain process,and there
can be no certainty that currently established re s e rve s
will prove adequate in light of subsequent actual
experience, which in the past has resulted and in the
future could result in loss reserves being too high 
or too low.The accuracy of these estimates may be
affected by external forces such as changes in the rate
of inflation,the regulatory environment, the judicial
administration of claims,medical costs and other
factors. Future loss development or governmental
regulators could require reserves for prior periods to
be increased,which would adversely impact earnings
in future peri o d s . In light of present facts and curre n t
legal interpretations,management believes that
adequate provisions have been made for claims and
loss reserves.
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Year 2000
The Company recognizes that the ar rival of the 
Year 2000 requires computer systems to be able to
recognize the date change from 1999 to 2000 and,
like other companies,is assessing and modifying its
computer applications and business processes to
provide for their continued functionality.

The Year 2000 issue is the result of computer
programs being written using two digits rather than
four to define the applicable year. Any of the Com-
pany’s computer programs that have time sensitive
software may recognize a date using “00”as the year
1900 rather than the year 2000.This could result in
a system failure or miscalculations causing disrup-
tions of operations,including,among other things, a
temporary inability to process transactions,prepare
invoices or engage in normal business activities.In
addition, the Year 2000 problems of the Company’s
providers and customers,including governmental
entities,can affect the Company’s operations,which
are highly dependent upon information technology
for processing claims,determining eligibility and
exchanging information.

Project Status – The Year 2000 effort for the
C o m p a ny has the highest pri o rity of technolog y
p rojects and has the full support of the Company ’s
m a n a g e m e n t .The project has dedicated re s o u rc e s
with multiple teams to address its unique systems
e nv i ro n m e n t . U n i f o rm project management tech-
niques have been adopted with overall ove rs i g h t
responsibility residing with the Company ’s Chief
Te c h n o l ogy Officer, assisted by a special project man-
ager hired by the Company. An exe c u t ive manage-
ment committee is also actively and directly invo l ve d
in an ove rsight capacity in the Company ’s Year 2000
p roject and re c e ives monthly re p o rts from the pro-
ject manager. In addition, the project manager re g u-
larly meets with the Company ’s audit committee to
f u rther discuss the Company ’s Year 2000 issues.

The Company is addressing its Year 2000
issues in several ways.Selected systems are being
retired with the business functions being converted
to Year 2000 compliant systems.A number of the
Company’s systems include packaged software from
large vendors that the Company is closely monitor-
ing to ensure that these systems are Year 2000 com-
p l i a n t .The Company believes that ve n d o rs will make

timely updates available to ensure that all remaining
purchased software is Year 2000 compliant.The
remaining systems’compliance with Year 2000 will
be addressed by internal technical staff.The Company
has engaged IBM Global Services to assist in the
p rogr a m management of the project.In addition,
the Company is in the process of assessing its third
party relationships with respect to non-information
technology assets and services.The Company has
also retained legal consultants to assist in the review
of insurance and the Company’s obligations and
rights,and IBM’s The Wilkerson Group, technical
consultants specializing in health care, to help
develop contingency plans.

The Company has divided its Year 2000
effort into five phases:(1) Assessment and Strategy,
(2) Detailed Analysis and Planning,(3) Remediation,
(4) Testing and Implementation, and (5) Cert i f i c a t i o n .
The Company’s geographical and specialty service
divisions are conducting a detailed self-assessment 
as to their compliance, needs, risks,and contingency
planning, which will then be reviewed and priori-
tized at the corporate leve l .D u ring the fourth quart e r
of 1998,the Company continued moving forward
in its efforts to address Year 2000 issues,though its
overall progress was less significant due to organiza-
tional changes and re s t ru c t u ri n g .The Year 2000 pro j-
ect is experiencing increased progress at the start of
1 9 9 9 .The Company has established the third quart e r
of 1999 to complete all phases and is endeavoring 
to accelerate completion ahead of that time.The
following table sets forth the estimated percentage
completion of each of the Company’sYear 2000
phases as of February 1999 with respect to its core
applications and information technology infrastruc-
ture, and its Year 2000 project overall.

Phase 1 Phase 2 Phase 3 Phase 4 Phase 5

Core applications
and IT
infrastructure 100% 94% 56% 15% 0%

Overall 100% 83% 54% 11% 0%
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Third Parties – The Company has commenced
an inventory of third party relationships,identifying
them and analyzing their strategic importance to the
Company and their Year 2000 readiness.The strate-
gically important third party relationships identified
by the Company are general purpose utility ve n d o rs ,
care delivery organizations (such as providers),and
customer service ve n d o rs .The Company now antici-
pates completing its risk assessment for third parties
in the second quarter of 1999.T h e re can be no assur-
ance that the systems of other companies on which
the Company relies will be compliant on a timely
basis,or that the failure by a third party to be com-
pliant would not have a material adverse effect on
the Company.

Costs – The Company is evaluating on an 
on-going basis the related costs to resolve its poten-
tial Year 2000 problems.The Company currently
estimates that the total cost for the project will be
approximately $42.7 million,excluding the costs to
accelerate the replacement of hardware or software
otherwise re q u i red to be purchased by the Company.
Through 1998,the Company expended a p p rox i-
mately $13.6 million relating to, among other things,
the cost to repair or replace software and re l a t e d
h a rd wa re pro bl e m s , cost of assessment, a n a l y s i s and
planning and internal and external communications.
The Company estimates that the percentages of 
its total expenditures for Year 2000 issues will be
approximately as follows:35% for internal costs,
37% for outside consultants and contractors,6.5%
for software-related costs,and 21.5% for hardware-
related costs.The Company has established a line-
item in its overall operating budget specifically for
Year 2000 costs.The operating subsidiaries for each
line of business of the Company, however, are paying
for the costs of assessment,planning, remediation
and testing of Year 2000 issues for their respective
operations.

Notwithstanding the foregoing,the costs of
the project and the timetable in which the Company
plans to complete the Year 2000 compliance re q u i re-
ments are based on estimates derived from utilizing
numerous assumptions of future events including 
the continued availability of certain resources, third
party modification plans and other factors.There
can be no assurances that these estimates will be
achieved and actual results and costs could differ
materially from these estimates.

Certain insurance coverages for defense costs
associated with Year 2000 litigation have already been
secured under the Company’s Directors and Officers
Liability Insurance policy and will be re-evaluated
upon re n ewal of that policy.At this time, it is unclear
as to the extent of existing insurance coverage, if
any, the Company may have to cover potential Year
2000 costs and liabilities under its other insurance
policies.The Company is currently analyzing the
availability of such coverage under other existing
and future insurance policies and products.

Contingency Planning. An important part of
the Company’sYear 2000 project involves identify-
ing worst case scenarios and seeking to develop
contingency plans.Each geographical and specialty
services division of the Company is prioritizing its
mission critical business functions in order to address
the most critical issues first in remediation efforts
and to develop alternatives to these critical processes
as part of contingency planning.A mission critical
business activity or system is one that cannot be
without an automated or functional system for a
period of 21 days without causing significant busi-
ness impact to the particular line of business.Among
other things,the Company’s divisions are assessing
potential negative impacts on a valid member’s ability
to receive services,the ability to generate revenue,
the need for additional expenditures,compliance
with legal, regulatory or accreditation requirements,
meeting contractual obligations and reimbursing
providers, vendors and agents.The Company is cur-
rently projecting to complete the assessment of its
most critical business functions by the end of the
first quarter of 1999 and the documentation and
validation of its contingency plans by the end of the
second quarter of 19 99.The Company currently
anticipates that its contingency plans will include
the use of manual as well as on-line files of its
members to avoid disruption in the verification of
membership and eligibility for the provision of
health care services to its members.

Risks – The Company is highly dependent
upon its own information technology systems and
that of its providers and customers.Failure by the
Company or a third party to correct a material 
Year 2000 problem could result in a failure of or an
i n t e rruption in the Company ’s business activities and
operations.Such interruptions and failures could
materially and adversely affect the Company’s results
of operations,liquidity and financial condition.Due
to the general uncertainty inherent in the Year 2000
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problem, resulting in part from the uncertainty of
the readiness of third party providers and customers,
the Company is not able at this time to determine
whether the Year 2000 problems will have a material
a d ve rse effect on the Company ’s results of operations,
liquidity or financial condition.The Company’s
Year 2000 project is expected to reduce significantly
the Company’s level of uncertainty and the possibil-
ity of significant or long-lasting interruptions of 
the Company’s business operations;however, the
Company believes that it is impossible to predict all
of the areas in which material problems may arise.

The Company has initiated formal commu-
nications with others with whom it does significant
business to determine their Year 2000 issues.The
C o m p a ny is currently projecting to complete its
assessment of third party risks by the end of the
second quarter of 1999.There can be no assurances
that the systems of other companies on which the
Company’s systems rely will be timely converted,
or that the failure to convert by another company
would not have a material adverse effect on the
Company.

Forward-looking statements contained in 
this Year 2000 section should be read in connection
with the Company’s cautionary statements identify-
ing important risk factors that could cause the
Company’s actual results to differ materially from
those projected in these forward-looking statements,
which cautionary statements are contained in the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 1998.

Liquidity and Capital Resourc e s
Certain of the Company’s subsidiaries must comply
with minimum capital and surplus requirements
under applicable state laws and regulations,and must
h ave adequate re s e rves for claims. C e rtain subsidiari e s
must maintain ratios of current assets to cur rent
liabilities of 1:1 pursuant to certain government
contracts.The Company believes it is in compliance
with these contractual and regulatory requirements
in all material respects.

The Company believes that cash from opera-
tions,existing working capital,lines of credit, and
funds from planned divestitures of business are ade-
quate to fund existing obligations,introduce new
p roducts and serv i c e s , and continue to develop health
care-related businesses.The Company regularly eval-
uates cash requirements for cur rent operations and

commitments, and for capital acquisitions and other
strategic transactions.The Company may elect 
to raise additional funds for these purposes,either
through additional debt or equity, the sale of invest-
ment securities or otherwise, as appropriate.

Government health care receivables are best
estimates of payments that are ultimately collectible
or payable. Since these amounts are subject to gov-
ernment audit and negotiation, amounts ultimately
collected may vary from current estimates.Addition-
ally, the timely collection of such receivables is also
impacted by government audit and negotiation.

For the year ended December 31,1998, cash
provided by operating activities was $100.9 million
compared to cash used in operating activities of
$125.9 million in the prior year.This change was
due primarily to the timing of payments of accounts
p aya bl e and other liabilities, including payments for
merger, restructuring and other costs associated with
the 1998 Charges. Net cash provided by investing
a c t ivities was $147.0 million during 1998 as compare d
to cash used in investing activities of $134.8 million
d u ring 1997.This increase during 1998 was pri m a ri l y
due to cash received from the sale of the workers’
compensation segment.Net cash used in financing
activities was $43.3 million in 1998 as compared to
cash provided by financing activities of $332.1 mil-
lion during the same period in 1997.The decrease
in 1998 was due to the re p ayment of funds draw n
under the Company’s Credit Facility (as defined
below), which were partially offset by additional
drawings under the Credit Facility.

The Company has a $1.5 billion credit fa c i l i t y
(the “ C redit Facility”), with Bank of A m e rica as
A d m i n i s t r a t ive Agent for the Lenders there t o, w h i c h
was amended by Amendments in A p ri l , Ju l y, N ove m-
ber 1998 and March 1999 with the Lenders (the
“ A m e n d m e n t s ” ) .All previous revolving credit fa c i l i-
ties we re terminated and rolled into the Credit Facil-
ity on Ju l y 8 ,1 9 9 7 .At the election of the Company,
and subject to customary cove n a n t s , loans are initiated
on a bid or committed basis and carry interest at 
o f f s h o re or domestic rates, at the applicable LIBOR
rate plus margin or the bank re f e rence rate.A c t u a l
rates on borrowings under the Credit Facility va ry,
based on competitive bids and the Company ’s unse-
c u red credit rating at the time of the borrow i n g .A s
of December 31, 1 9 9 8 , the Company was in compli-
ance with the financial covenants of the Credit Facil-
i t y, as amended by the A m e n d m e n t s .The Cre d i t
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Facility is ava i l a ble for five ye a rs , until July 2002, but it
m ay be extended under certain circumstances for two
additional ye a rs .The outstanding balance under the
C redit Facility has decreased from $1.265 billion at
December 31, 1997 to $1.225 billion at December 3 1 ,
19 9 8 .As of March 18, 19 9 9 , the amount outstanding
under the Credit Facility totaled $1.175 billion with
i n t e rest at LIBOR plus 1.50%.

In February 1999,the Company entered into
an agreement to sell its pharmacy benefits manage-
ment business to an unrelated third party for $70 mil-
lion in cash.The Company intends to use the net
proceeds from the sale to reduce corporate debt.
T h e Company has initiated a formal plan to dispose 
of certain non-core health plans included in the
C o m p a ny ’s Health Plan Services segment. It is antici-
pated that the sales of these health plans will be
completed during the first half of 1999.

The Company’s subsidiaries must comply
with certain minimum capital requirements under
applicable state laws and regulations.The long-term
portion of principal and interest payments under the
promissory notes issued to the California Wellness
Foundation in connection with the Health Net con-
version to for-profit status is subordinated to Health
Net meeting tangible equity requirements under
applicable California statutes and regulations.During
1998,the Company contributed $132.1 million to
its subsidiaries to meet risk-based or other capital
requirements of the regulated entities.As of Decem-
ber 31, 1998,the Company’s subsidiaries were in
compliance with minimum capital requirements.

Legislation has been or may be enacted in
certain states in which the Company’s subsidiaries
operate imposing substantially increased minimum
capital and/or statutory deposit requirements for
HMOs in such states. Such statutory deposits may
only be drawn upon under limited circumstances
relating to the protection of policyholders.The
Company’s HMO subsidiary operating in New
Jersey was required to increase its statutory deposits
by approximately $51 million in 1998 pursuant to
such legislation.

Q U A N T I TATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES 
ABOUT MARKET RISK

The Company is exposed to interest rate and marke t
risk primarily due to its investing and borrowing
activities.Market risk generally represents the risk 
of loss that may result from the potential change in
the value of a financial instrument as a result of fluc-
tuations in interest rates and in equity pri c e s . I n t e re s t
rate risk is a consequence of maintaining fixed income
i nve s t m e n t s .The Company is exposed to interest rate
risks arising from changes in the level or volatility of
i n t e rest rates, p re p ayment speeds and/or the shape and
slope of the yield curve. In addition,the Company is
exposed to the risk of loss related to changes in cre d i t
spreads.Credit spread risk arises from the potential
that changes in an issuer’s credit rating or credit per-
ception may affect the value of financial instru m e n t s .

The Company has several bond portfolios to
fund reserves.The Company attempts to manage the
interest rate risks related to its investment portfolios
by actively managing the asset/liability duration 
of its investment portfolios.The overall goal of the
investment portfolios is to support the ongoing
operations of the Company's business units.The
Company’s philosophy is to actively manage assets
to maximize total return over a multiple-year time
horizon, subject to appropriate levels of risk.Each
business unit will have additional requirements with
respect to liquidity, current income and contribution
to surplus.The Company manages these risks by
setting risk tolerances, targeting asset-class allocations,
d ive rsifying among assets and asset characteri s t i c s ,a n d
using performance measurement and reporting.

The Company uses a value-at-risk model to
assess the market risk of its investments.The estima-
tion of potential losses that could arise from changes
in market conditions is typically accomplished
through the use of statistical models which seek to
predict risk of loss based on historical price and
volatility patterns.The Company's measured value at
risk for its investments from continuing operations,
using a 95% confidence level, was approximately
$3.4 million at December 31,1998.

The Company’s calculated value-at-risk
e x p o s u re re p resents an estimate of re a s o n a bly possibl e
net losses that could be recognized on its investment
portfolios assuming hypothetical movements in
future market rates and are not necessarily indicative
of actual results which may occur. It does not repre-
sent the maximum possible loss nor any expected
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(Dollars in thousands) Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 Beyond Total

Long-term Borrowings
Fixed Rate $ 4,005 $13,049 $ 2,148 $ 2,167 $2,186 $16,196 $    39,751
Floating Rate 75,830 75,830 75,830 1,262,915 — — 1,490,405

Total $79,835 $88,879 $77,978 $1,265,082 $2,186 $16,196 $1,530,156

loss that may occur, since actual future gains and
losses will differ from those estimated,based upon
actual fluctuations in market rates,operating expo-
sures, and the timing thereof, and changes in the
Company’s investment portfolios during the year.

The Company, however, believes that any loss
i n c u rred would be offset by the effects of interest rate
movements on the respective liabilities,since these
liabilities are affected by many of the same fa c t o rs that
affect asset performance; that is,economic activity,
inflation and interest rates, as well as regional and
industry factors.

In addition, the Company has some interest
rate market risk due to its borrow i n g s . Notes paya bl e,
capital leases and other financing arrangements total
$1,256 million and the related average interest rate is
6.30% (which interest rate is subject to change pur-
suant to the terms of the credit agreement).See a
d e s c ription of the credit facility under “Liquidity and
Capital Resources.” The table below presents the
expected cash flows of market risk sensitive instru-
ments at December 31,1998.These cash flows
include both expected principal and interest pay-
ments consistent with the terms of the outstanding
debt as of December 31,1998.
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R e p o rt of Independent Auditors

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Foundation Health Systems,Inc.
Woodland Hills,California

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Foundation Health Systems,Inc. and subsidiari e s
(the “ C o m p a ny”) as of December 31, 1998 and 1997,and the related consolidated statements of operations,stock-
holders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31,1998.These financial
statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management.Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards.Those standards require
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of
m a t e rial misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, ev i d e n c e supporting the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements.An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates m a d e
by management, as well as evaluating the ove rall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a
re a s o n a ble basis for our opinion.

In our opinion,such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects,the financial posi-
tion of Foundation Health Systems,Inc. and subsidiaries at December 31,1998 and 1997, and the results of their
operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31,1998 in conformity
with generally accepted accounting principles.

Los Angeles,California
March 31, 1999

R e p o rt of the Audit Committee of the Board of Dire c t o r s

The Board of Directors of the Company addresses its oversight responsibility for the consolidated financial statements
through its Audit Committee (the "Committee").The Committee currently consists of Gov. George Deukmejian,
Thomas T. Farley, Earl B. Fowler (Chairman) and Richard J. Stegemeier, each of whom is an independent outside
director.

In fulfilling its responsibilities in 1998, the Committee reviewed the overall scope of the independent auditors’
audit plan and reviewed the independent auditors’ non-audit services to the Company.The Committee also exercised
oversight responsibilities over various financial and regulatory matters.

The Committee’s meetings are designed to facilitate open communication between the independent auditors
and Committee members.To ensure auditor independence, the Committee meets pr ivately with the independent
auditors providing for full and free access to the Committee.

Earl B. Fowler, Chairman
Audit Committee
March 31,1999
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Consolidated Balance Sheets
Foundation Health Systems, Inc.

(Amounts in thousands)
December 31, 1998 1997

A S S E T S :
Current Assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 763,865 $ 559,360
Investments – available for sale 525,082 553,001
Premium receivables,net of allowance for

doubtful accounts (1998 – $28,522;1997 – $22,900) 230,157 224,383
Amounts receivable under government contracts 321,411 272,060
Deferred taxes 160,446 213,695
Reinsurance and other receivables 147,827 130,875
Other assets 91,096 188,606
Net assets of discontinued operations — 267,713

Total current assets 2,239,884 2,409,693
Property and equipment,net 345,269 427,149
Goodwill and other intangible assets,net 977,910 1,044,727
Other assets 366,478 194,781

Total assets $3,929,541 $4,076,350

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current Liabilities:

Reserves for claims and other settlements $ 961,399 $ 967,815
Unearned premiums 288,683 244,340
Notes payable and capital leases 1,760 3,593
Amounts payable under government contracts 69,792 78,441
Accounts payable and other liabilities 503,797 470,483

Total current liabilities 1,825,431 1,764,672
Notes payable and capital leases 1,254,278 1,308,979
Other liabilities 105,790 106,725

Total liabilities 3,185,499 3,180,376

Commitments and contingencies (Note 12)

Stockholders’ equity
Preferred stock ($0.001 par value, 10,000 shares 

authorized,none issued and outstanding) — —
Class A common stock ($0.001 par value, 350,000

shares authorized;issued 1998 – 120,362;1997 – 114,449) 120 114
Class B non-voting convertible common stock

($0.001 par value, 30,000 shares authorized;
issued and outstanding 1998 – 5,048;1997 – 10,298) 5 10

Additional paid-in capital 641,820 628,611
Treasury Class A common stock, at cost

(1998 – 3,194 shares;1997 – 3,194 shares) (95,831) (95,831)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (7,308) (7,324)
Retained earnings 205,236 370,394

Total stockholders’equity 744,042 895,974

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $3,929,541 $4,076,350

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Operations
Foundation Health Systems, Inc.

(Amounts in thousands,except per share data)
Years Ended December 31, 1998 1997 1996

R e v e n u e s
Health plan premiums $7,440,981 $5,829,444 $5,395,125
Government contracts 989,409 949,168 908,730
Specialty services 366,645 342,107 316,993
Investment and other income 99,041 114,300 88,392

Total revenues 8,896,076 7,235,019 6,709,240

E x p e n s e s
Health plan services 6,547,747 4,912,532 4,598,074
Government contracts health care services 757,047 711,757 706,076
Specialty services 307,675 290,319 289,744
Selling,general and administrative 1,042,556 851,826 859,996
Amortization and depreciation 128,093 98,353 112,916
Interest 92,159 63,555 45,372
Asset impairment,merger, restructuring and other charges 274,953 395,925 44,108

Total expenses 9,150,230 7,324,267 6,656,286

Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes (254,154) (89,248) 52,954
Income tax provision (benefit) (88,996) (21,418) 14,124

Income (loss) from continuing operations (165,158) (67,830) 38,830
Discontinued operations:

Income (loss) from operations,net of tax — (30,409) 25,084
Gain (loss) on disposition,net of tax — (88,845) 20,317

Net income (loss) $(165,158) $(187,084) $ 84,231

Basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share:
Continuing operations $ (1.35) $ (0.55) $ 0.31
Income (loss) from discontinued operations,net of tax — (0.25) 0.20
Gain (loss) on disposition of discontinued operations, net of tax — (0.72) 0.16

Net $ (1.35) $ (1.52) $ 0.67

Weighted average shares outstanding:
Basic 121,974 123,333 124,453
Diluted 121,974 123,333 124,966

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Foundation Health Systems, Inc.

(Amounts in thousands)
Years Ended December 31, 1998 1997 1996

Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
Net income (loss) $(165,158) $(187,084) $ 84,231
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash

provided by (used in) operating activities:
Amortization and depreciation 128,093 98,353 112,916
Loss on disposal of United Kingdom operations — 12,676 —
Loss on early redemption of Senior Notes — 9,586 —
Impairment of assets 193,966 8,456 14,963
Other changes in net assets of discontinued operations — (5,395) (78,589)
(Gain) loss on disposition of discontinued operations — 88,845 (20,317)
(Income) loss from discontinued operations — 30,409 (25,084)
Other changes 15,041 (7,061) (1,049)

Changes in assets and liabilities,net of effects of acquisitions:
Premium receivable and unearned subscriber premiums 38,569 3,105 35,941
Other assets (75,271) (112,302) (239,013)
Amounts receivable/payable under government contracts (58,000) (16,155) (101,711)
Reserves for claims and other settlements (6,416) (55,450) 165,695
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 30,043 6,145 45,351

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 100,867 (125,872) (6,666)

Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
Sale or maturity of investments 718,446 597,691 441,550
Purchase of investments (692,305) (406,818) (513,734)
Purchases of property and equipment (147,782) (131,669) (95,751)
Proceeds from notes receivables — 93,011 825
Other 11,504 6,633 (17,784)
Sale of net assets of discontinued operations 257,100 — —
Acquisition of businesses,net of cash acquired — (293,625) 108

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 146,963 (134,777) (184,786)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities:
Proceeds from exercise of stock options and employee stock purchases 13,209 21,506 31,756
Proceeds from sale of stock — — 95,828
Proceeds from issuance of notes payable and other financing arrangements 155,575 566,240 331,576
Repayment of debt and other non-current liabilities (212,109) (144,341) (4,939)
Stock repurchase — (111,334) (105,418)

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (43,325) 332,071 348,803

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 204,505 71,422 157,351
Cash and cash equivalents,beginning of year 559,360 487,938 330,587

Cash and cash equivalents,end of year $ 763,865 $ 559,360 $ 487,938

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows ( c o n t i n u e d )

Foundation Health Systems, Inc.

(Amounts in thousands)
Years Ended December 31, 1998 1997 1996

Supplemental Cash Flows Disclosure :
Interest paid $ 85,981 $ 56,056 $ 43,337
Income taxes paid (refunded) (87,799) (3,534) 65,698

Supplemental Schedule of Non-Cash Investing and Financing Activities:
Capital lease obligations $ 2,530 $ 3,993 $ 401
Notes and stocks received on sale of Medical Practices — — 201,118
Transfer of investment as consideration for PACC acquisition — 14,310 —
Conversion of FOHP convertible debentures to equity 1,197 70,654 —
Profit sharing plan shares issued — — 4,558

Acquisition of Businesses:
Fair value of assets acquired — $849,487 $ 23,650
Liabilities assumed — 438,448 12,903
Issuance of common stock — — 6,631

Cash paid for acquisitions — 411,039 4,116
Less cash acquired in acquisitions — 117,414 4,224

Net cash paid for acquisitions — $293,625 $ (108)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity
Foundation Health Systems, Inc.

Common Stock Additional
Class A Class B Paid-in

(Amounts in thousands) Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital

Balance at January 1,1996 97,505 $ 97 25,684 $26 $ 585,292
Comprehensive income:

Net income
Change in unrealized depreciation on

investments,net

Total comprehensive income

Issuance of common stock 1,468 3 4,386
Retirement of treasury stock,net (878) (2) (704)
Exercise of stock options including

related tax benefit 1,216 1 29,546
Employee stock purchase plan 121 2,576
Employee profit sharing plan 166 4,558
Sale of common stock 9,581 10 (6,386) (7) 95,828
Purchase of treasury stock

Balance at December 31,1996 109,179 109 19,298 19 721,482
Comprehensive income:

Net income
Change in unrealized depreciation on

investments,net

Total comprehensive income

Redemption of common stock (4,550) (4) (111,330)
Retirement of treasury stock,net (130) (3,047)
Exercise of stock options including

related tax benefit 842 19,310
Conversion of Class B to Class A 4,450 5 (4,450) (5)
Employee stock purchase plan 108 2,196

Balance at December 31,1997 114,449 114 10,298 10 628,611
Comprehensive income:

Net income
Change in unrealized depreciation on

investments,net

Total comprehensive income

Exercise of stock options including
related tax benefit 497 1 9,584

Conversion of Class B to Class A 5,250 5 (5,250) (5)
Employee stock purchase plan 166 3,625

Balance at December 31,1998 120,362 $120 5,048 $ 5 $ 641,820

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity ( c o n t i n u e d )

Foundation Health Systems, Inc. Accumulated
Common Stock Other
Held in Treasury Retained Comprehensive

(Amounts in thousands) Shares Amount Earnings Income (Loss) Total

Balance at January 1,1996 (130) $ (3,047) $ 482,129 $ 3,757 $1,068,254
Comprehensive income:

Net income 84,231 84,231
Change in unrealized depreciation on

investments,net (556) (556)

Total comprehensive income 84,231 (556) 83,675

Issuance of common stock 4,389
Retirement of treasury stock,net 878 9,588 (8,882) —
Exercise of stock options including

related tax benefit 29,547
Employee stock purchase plan 2,576
Employee profit sharing plan 4,558
Sale of common stock 95,831
Purchase of treasury stock (4,072) (105,419) (105,419)

Balance at December 31,1996 (3,324) (98,878) 557,478 3,201 1,183,411
Comprehensive income:

Net income (187,084) (187,084)
Change in unrealized depreciation on

investments,net (10,525) (10,525)

Total comprehensive income (187,084) (10,525) (197,609)

Redemption of common stock (111,334)
Retirement of treasury stock,net 130 3,047 —
Exercise of stock options including

related tax benefit 19,310
Conversion of Class B to Class A —
Employee stock purchase plan 2,196

Balance at December 31,1997 (3,194) (95,831) 370,394 (7,324) 895,974
Comprehensive income:

Net income (165,158) (165,158)
Change in unrealized depreciation on

investments,net 16 16

Total comprehensive income (165,158) 16 (165,142)

Exercise of stock options including
related tax benefit 9,585

Conversion of Class B to Class A —
Employee stock purchase plan 3,625

Balance at December 31,1998 (3,194) $ (95,831) $ 205,236 $ (7,308) $ 744,042

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 1998, 1997 and 1996

Note 1 – Description of Business
The current operations of Foundation Health 
Systems,Inc. (the “Company”or “FHS”) are a result
of the April 1, 1997 merger transaction (the “FHS
Combination”) involving Health Systems Interna-
tional,Inc. (“HSI”) and Foundation Health Corpo-
ration (“FHC”).Pursuant to the FHS Combination,
FH Acquisition Corp.,a wholly owned subsidiary of
HSI (“Merger Sub”),merged with and into FHC
and FHC survived as a wholly-owned subsidiary
of HSI,which changed its name to “Foundation
Health Systems,Inc.” and thereby became the 
Company. Pursuant to the Agreement and Plan of
Merger (the “Merger Agreement”) that evidenced
the FHS Combination, FHC stockholders received
1.3 shares of the Company’s Class A Common
Stock for every share of FHC common stock held,
resulting in the issuance of approximately 76.7 mil-
lion shares of the Company ’s Class A Common Stock
to FHC stockholders.The shares of the Company’s
Class A Common Stock issued to FHC’s stockholders
in the FHS Combination constituted approximately
61% of the outstanding stock of the Company after
the FHS Combination and the shares held by the
C o m p a ny ’s stockholders prior to the FHS Combina-
tion (i.e.,the prior stockholders of HSI) constituted
approximately 39% of the outstanding stock of the
Company after the FHS Combination.

The FHS Combination was accounted for as
a pooling of interests for accounting and financial
reporting purposes.The pooling of interests method
of accounting is intended to present, as a single
interest,two or more common stockholder interests
which were previously independent and assumes
that the combining companies have been merged
from inception.Consequently, the Company’s con-
solidated financial statements have been prepared
and/or restated as though HSI and FHC always had
been combined.Although prior to the FHS Combi-
nation FHC reported on a fiscal year ended June 30
basis,the consolidated financial statements have been
restated to reflect the Company’s calendar year basis.

The consolidated financial statements give
retroactive effect to the FHS combination which
was accounted for as a pooling of interests and to
the sale of the Company’s workers’compensation
business which was accounted for as discontinued
operations (see Note 3).

Continuing Operations
The Company is an integrated managed care organi-
zation which administers the delivery of managed
health care services.Continuing operations consist
of two segments:Health Plan Services and Govern-
ment Contracts/Specialty Serv i c e s .T h rough its sub-
s i d i a ri e s , the Company offers g roup, individual,
Medicaid and M e d i c a re health maintenance organi-
zation (“HMO”) and pre f e rred provider organization
(“PPO”) plans; government sponsored managed care
plans;and managed care products related to admin-
istration and cost containment,behavioral health,
dental,vision and pharmaceutical products and
other services.

The Health Plan Services segment consists 
of HMOs organized into four operational divisions
located in the following geographic regions:the
C a l i f o rnia Div i s i o n , the Northeast Div i s i o n , the Cen-
tral Division, and the Arizona Division.These health
plans are located in Arizona, California,Colorado,
Connecticut, Florida,Idaho, Louisiana,New Jersey,
New Mexico, NewYork,Ohio, Oklahoma,Oregon,
Pennsylvania,Texas,Utah,Washington, and West
Virginia.The Company’s health plans p rovide a wide
range of managed health care services throughout
the United States with approximately 4.2 million 
at-risk and administrative services only members.
The Company’s commercial HMO subsidiaries con-
tract to provide medical care services to a defined,
enrolled population for a predetermined,prepaid
monthly fee for g roup, Medicaid,individual and
Medicare HMO plans throughout their respective
service areas.All of the HMOs are state licensed and
some are also federally qualified.The Company also
operates PPO networks which provide access 
to health care services and owns six health and life
insurance companies licensed to sell insurance
throughout the United States.

The Gove rnment Contracts/Specialty Serv i c e s
segment administers large, multi-year managed care
government contracts.This segment subcontracts to
affiliated and unrelated third parties the administra-
tion and health care risk of parts of these contracts
and currently administers health care programs
covering 1.6 million eligible individuals under 
the Civilian Health and Medical Program of the
Uniformed Services (“CHAMPUS”) through the
TRICARE program.Currently, there are three
TRICARE contracts that cover Alaska,Arkansas,
California,Hawaii,Oklahoma,Oregon,Texas,
and Washington, and parts of Arizona,Idaho and
Louisiana.This segment also offers behavioral health,
dental,vision,and pharmaceutical products and
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services as well as managed care products related 
to bill review, administration and cost containment
for hospitals,health plans and other entities.
Discontinued Operations
The consolidated financial statements give re t ro a c t ive
effect to the following (see Note 3):

Workers’ Compensation Insurance Segment – In
December 1997,the Company revised its strategy 
of maintaining a presence in the workers’ compensa-
tion insurance business and adopted a formal plan to
discontinue and sell this segment through divestiture
of its wo r ke rs ’ compensation insurance subsidiari e s .
The Company completed its sale of this segment 
on December 10,1998.

Physician Practice Management Segment – 
On June 28,1996 the Company executed a Stock
and Note Purchase Agreement with FPA Medical
Management,Inc. (“FPA”),a national health care
management services organization, for the purchase by
FPA of the Company’s physician practice manage-
ment subsidiary and affiliated phy s i c i a n - owned med-
ical practices (collectively, the “Medical Practices”).
The transaction was consummated in November 19 9 6 .

Note 2 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Consolidation and Basis of Presentation
The consolidated financial statements include the
accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned and
m a j o ri t y - owned subsidiari e s .All significant interc o m-
p a ny transactions have been eliminated in consolida-
tion except for transactions between the Company’s
continuing operations subsidiaries and the discontin-
ued operations segments discussed in Note 3.The
accompanying consolidated financial statements have
been restated for the FHS Combination accounted
for as a pooling of interests and for the discontinued
operations as discussed in Note 1.
Reclassifications
Certain amounts in the 1997 and 1996 consolidated
financial statements and notes have been reclassified
to conform to the 1998 presentation.
Revenue Recognition
Health plan services premium reve nues include 
HMO and PPO premiums from employer groups and
i n d ividuals and from Medicare recipients who have
p u rchased supplemental benefit cove r a g e, which pre-
miums are based on a pre d e t e rmined prepaid fee,
Medicaid reve nues based on mu l t i - year contracts to
p rovide care to Medicaid re c i p i e n t s , and reve nue under
M e d i c a re risk contracts to provide care to enro l l e d
M e d i c a re re c i p i e n t s . R eve nue is re c ognized in the
month in which the related enrollees are entitled to
health care serv i c e s . P remiums collected in adva n c e
a re re c o rded as unearned pre m i u m s .

G ove rnment contracts reve nues are re c og n i z e d
in the month in which the eligible beneficia ries are
entitled to health care serv i c e s .G ove rnment c o n t r a c t s
also contain cost and performance incentive provi-
sions which adjust the contract price based on actual
performance, and revenue under contracts is subject
to price adjustments attri bu t a ble to inflation and other
fa c t o rs .The effects of these adjustments are re c og n i z e d
on a monthly basis,although the final determination
of these amounts could extend significantly beyond
the period during which the services were provided.
Amounts receivable under government contracts are
comprised primarily of estimated amounts re c e iva bl e
under these cost and perform a n c e incentive provi-
sions,price adjustments,and change orders for
services not originally specified in the contracts.

Specialty services revenues are recognized in
the month in which the administrative services are
performed or the period that coverage for services 
is provided.
Health Care Expenses
The cost of health care services is recognized in the
period in which services are provided and includes
an estimate of the cost of services which have been
incurred but not yet reported.Such costs include
p ayments to pri m a ry care phy s i c i a n s , s p e c i a l i s t s ,
hospitals,outpatient care facilities and the costs asso-
ciated with managing the extent of such care. The
estimate for reserves for claims and other settlements
is based on actuarial projections of health care costs
using historical studies of claims paid.Estimates are
continually monitored and reviewed and,as settle-
ments are made or estimates adjusted, differences are
reflected in current operations.Such estimates are
subject to the impact of changes in the regulatory
environment and economic conditions. Given the
inherent variability of such estimates, the actual
liability could differ significantly from the amounts
provided.While the ultimate amount of claims and
losses paid are dependent on future developments,
management is of the opinion that the reserves for
claims and other settlements are adequate to cover
such claims and losses.These liabilities are reduced
by estimated amounts recoverable from third parties
for subrogation.

The Company generally contracts with 
various medical groups to provide professional care
to certain of its members on a capitation, or fixed
per member per month fee basis.Capitation con-
tracts generally include a provision for stop-loss and
non-capitated services for which the Company is
liable. Professional capitated contracts also generally
contain provisions for shared risk,whereby the
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Company and the medical groups share in the var i-
ance between actual costs and predetermined goals.
Additionally, the Company contracts with certain
hospitals to provide hospital care to enrolled mem-
bers on a capitation basis.The HMOs also contract
with hospitals, physicians and other providers of
health care, pursuant to discounted fee-for-service
arrangements,hospital per diems,and case rates
under which providers bill the HMOs for each
individual service provided to enrollees.
Cash and Cash Equi valents
Cash equivalents include all liquid investments with
a maturity of three months or less when purchased.

The Company and its consolidated subsid-
iaries are required to set aside certain funds for
restricted purposes pursuant to regulatory require-
ments.As of December 31, 1998 and 1997,cash 
and cash equivalent balances of $65.5 million and
$37.9 million, re s p e c t ive l y, a re re s t ricted and included
in other noncurrent assets.
Investments
I nvestments classified as ava i l a ble for sale are re p o rt e d
at fair value based on quoted market prices,with
unrealized gains and losses excluded from earnings
and reported as other comprehensive income, net of
income tax effects.The cost of investments sold is
determined in accordance with the specific identifi-
cation method and realized gains and losses are
included in investment income.

C e rtain debt investments are held by
trustees or agencies pursuant to state re g u l a t o ry
re q u i re m e n t s . Such investments which are classified
as held to maturity are carried at an amortized cost
of $61.8 million in 1998 and $14.6 million in 1997
and are included in other noncurrent assets (see
Note 11). Market values approximate carrying value
at December 31,1998 and 1997.
Revenues Related to Go vernment Contracts
Amounts receivable or payable under government
contracts are based on three TRICARE contracts 
in five regions which include both amounts billed
(net receivables of $75.0 million and $108.8 million
at December 31,1998 and 1997, respectively) and
estimates for amounts to be received under cost and
performance incentive provisions, price adjustments
and change ord e rs for services not ori ginally specified
in the contracts. Such estimates are determined based
on i n f o rmation ava i l a ble as well as h i s t o rical perfor-
m a n c e. Differences,which may be material, between
the amounts estimated and final amounts collected
are recorded in the period when determined.

Additionally, the reserves for claims and other
settlements include approximately $162.4 million
and $204.8 million relating to health care services
provided under these contracts as of December 31,
1998 and 1997, respectively.
Property and Equipment
Property and equipment are stated at historical cost
less accumulated depreciation.Depreciation is com-
puted using the straight-line method over the lesser
of estimated useful lives of the various classes of
assets or the lease term.The useful life for buildings
and improvements is estimated at 40 years,and the
useful lives for furniture, equipment and software
range from three to eight years (see Note 5).

Expenditures for maintenance and repairs are
expensed as incurred.Major improvements which
increase the estimated useful life of an asset are capi-
talized.Upon the sale or retirement of assets,the
recorded cost and the related accumulated deprecia-
tion are removed from the accounts,and any gain or
loss on disposal is reflected in operations.
Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets
Goodwill and other intangible assets arise primarily
as a result of various business acquisitions and consist
of identifiable intangible assets acquired and the
excess of the cost of the acquisitions over the tangi-
ble and intangible assets acquired (goodwill).Other
intangible assets consist of the value of employer
group contracts and provider networks.Goodwill
and other intangible assets are amortized using the
straight-line method over the estimated lives of 
the related assets listed below. Fully amortized good-
will and other intangible assets and the related 
accumulated amortization are removed from the
accounts.The Company evaluates the carrying value
of its goodwill and other intangible assets periodi-
cally based on estimated fair value or undiscounted
operating cash flows whenever significant events or
changes occur which might impair recovery of
recorded costs. In such circumstances, recorded costs
of the assets are written down to estimated fair value
when recorded costs, prior to impairment,are
higher. Impairment charges for goodwill in 1998
amounted to $30.0 million (see Note 15).
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Amortization expense on goodwill and other
intangible assets, excluding the 1998 asset impair-
ment charge of $30.0 million, was $42.3 million,
$40.3 million and $45.2 million for the years ended
December 31,1998,1997 and 1996, respectively.
Concentrations of Credit Risk
Financial instruments that potentially subject the
Company to concentrations of credit risk consist
primarily of cash equivalents,investments and pre-
miums receivable. All cash equivalents and invest-
ments are managed within established guidelines
which limit the amounts which may be invested
with one issuer. Concentrations of credit risk with
respect to premium receivables are limited due to
the large number of payers comprising the Com-
pany’s customer base.The Company’s 10 largest
employer groups accounted for 17% and 36% of
receivables and 12% and 16% of premium revenue
as of December 31,1998 and 1997, respectively, and
for the years then ended.
Earnings Per Shar e
The Company adopted in 1997,Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 128,
“Earnings Per Share.”As required by SFAS No. 128,
basic EPS excludes dilution and reflects income
divided by the weighted average shares of common
stock outstanding during the periods presented.
Diluted EPS is based upon the weighted average
shares of common stock and dilutive common stock
equivalents (stock options) outstanding during the
periods presented;no adjustment to income was
required.Common stock equivalents arising from
dilutive stock options are computed using the 

treasury stock method,and in 1996 amounted to
513,000 shares. Such shares amounting to 207,000
and 488,000 we re anti-dilutive in 1998 and 1997,
re s p e c t ive l y.

Options to purchase an aggregate of 13.4 mil-
l i o n , 9.6 million and 4.1 million shares of common
stock during 1998, 1997 and 1996, re s p e c t ive l y, we re
not included in the computation of diluted EPS
because the options’ e xe rcise price was greater than
the average market price of the common stock.
These options expire through December 2 0 0 7 .
Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in confor-
mity with generally accepted accounting principles
(“GAAP”) requires management to make estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts 
of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial state-
ments,and the reported amounts of revenues and
expenses during the reporting period.Actual results
could differ from those estimates.Principal areas
requiring the use of estimates include the determin-
ation of allowances for doubtful accounts, reserves
for claims and other settlements, reserves for profes-
sional and general liabilities,amounts receivable or
payable under government contracts, remaining
reserves for restructuring and other charges,and net
realizable values for assets where impairment charges
have been recorded.
Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The estimated fair value amounts of cash equiva l e n t s ,
investments available for sale and notes payable
approximate their car rying amounts in the financial

Goodwill and other intangi ble assets consisted of the following at December 3 1 , 1998 (dollars in thousands):

Accumulated Amortization
Cost Amortization Net Balance Period

Goodwill $1,029,301 $136,088 $ 893,213 27-40 years
Provider network 23,987 9,716 14,271 5-20 years
Employer group contracts 138,323 90,828 47,495 11-22 years
Other 50,540 27,609 22,931 4-15 years

Total $1,242,151 $264,241 $ 977,910

Goodwill and other intangi ble assets consisted of the following at December 3 1 , 1997 (dollars in thousands):

Accumulated Amortization
Cost Amortization Net Balance Period

Goodwill $1,026,992 $ 78,339 $ 948,653 27-40 years
Provider network 20,686 4,864 15,822 5-20 years
Employer group contracts 138,323 80,660 57,663 11-22 years
Other 50,836 28,247 22,589 4-15 years

Total $1,236,837 $192,110 $1,044,727
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statements and have been determined by the
Company using available market information and
appropriate valuation methodologies.The car rying
amounts of cash equivalents approximate fair value
due to the short maturity of those instruments.The
fair values of investments are estimated based on
quoted market prices and dealer quotes for similar
investments.The fair value of notes payable is esti-
mated based on the quoted market prices for the
same or similar issues or on the current rates offered
to the Company for debt with the same remaining
maturities.Considerable judgment is required to
develop estimates of fair value. Accordingly, the esti-
mates are not necessarily indicative of the amounts
the Company could have realized in a current mar-
ket exchange.The use of different market assump-
tions and/or estimation methodologies may have a
material effect on the estimated fair value amounts.

The fair value estimates are based on perti-
nent information available to management as of
December 31,1998 and 1997.Although manage-
ment is not aware of any factors that would signifi-
cantly affect the estimated fair value amounts, such
amounts have not been comprehensively revalued
for purposes of these financial statements since that
date, and therefore, current estimates of fair value
may differ significantly.
Stock-based Compensation
The Financial Accounting Standards Board issued
SFAS No. 123,“Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation”(“SFAS 123”).As permitted under
SFAS 123, the Company has elected to continue
accounting for stock-based compensation under the
intrinsic value method prescribed in Accounting
Principles Board Opinion No. 25,“Accounting for
Stock Issued to Employees.” Under the intrinsic
value method,compensation cost for stock options
is measured at the date of grant as the excess,if any,
of the quoted market price of the Company’s stock
over the exercise price of the option (see Note 7).
Comprehensi ve Income
Effective January 1,1998,the Company adopted
SFAS No. 130 “Reporting Comprehensive Income”
(“SFAS 130”).SFAS 130 establishes standards for
reporting and presenting comprehensive income and
its components.Comprehensive income includes all
changes in stockholders’equity (except those arising
from transactions with stockholders) and includes
net income and net unrealized appreciation (depre-
ciation),after tax,on investments available for sale.

The adoption of SFAS 130 had no impact on
total stockholders ’e q u i t y.A c c u mulated other com-
p re h e n s ive income at December 31, 1 9 9 8 , 1997 and
1996 consisted entirely of unrealized gains (losses),
net of income taxe s .The changes in unrealized gains
(losses) during each of the three ye a rs ended Decem-
ber 31, 1998 include reclassification adjustments 
for gains (losses) realized in net income relating to 
u n realized gains (losses) previously re c og n i z e d .S u c h
reclassification adjustments net of income tax, a re not
m a t e rial to the financial statements.
Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements
In June 1998,the Financial Accounting Standards
B o a rd issued SFAS No. 1 3 3 , “Accounting for
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities”
(“SFAS 133”),which is required to be adopted in
years beginning after June 15,1999.Management
does not anticipate that the adoption of SFAS 133
will have a significant effect on the financial position 
of the Company or its results of operations.

The A m e rican Institute of Certified Publ i c
Accountants issued Statement of Position 97-3,
“Accounting by Insurance and Other Enterp rises 
for Insurance-Related A s s e s s m e n t s ” (“SOP 97-3”) 
in December 1997, Statement of Position 98-1,
“Accounting for the Costs of Computer Softwa re
D eveloped or Obtained for Internal Use” (“SOP 
98-1”) in March 1998 and Statement of Position 
98-5 “ R e p o rting on the Costs of Start-Up A c t iv i t i e s ”
(“SOP 98-5”) in A p ril 1998, all of which are effective
for the Company ’s 1999 financial statements. S O P
97-3 provides guidance for determining when an
insurance company or other enterp rises should re c-
ognize a liability for guaranty-fund assessments and
guidance for measuring the liability. SOP 98-1
re q u i res certain computer softwa re and related costs
for internal use to be capitalized and amort i z e d .S O P
98-5 re q u i res costs of start-up activities and organi-
zation costs to be expensed as incurre d .The adop-
tion of SOP 97-3 and SOP 98-1 is not expected to
h ave a significant effect on the financial position of
the Company or its results of operations. The initial
application of SOP 98-5 in the first quarter of 1999
will result in a charge of approximately $10 million
b e f o re income taxes re p resenting the write-off of
existing start-up and organization costs which will
be re p o rted as a cumu l a t ive effect of a change in
accounting pri n c i p l e.
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Note 3 – Acquisitions and Dispositions
The following summarizes acquisitions,strategic
investments, and dispositions by the Company
during the three years ended December 31,1998.
1998 Transactions
Wo r k e r s ’ Compensation – In December 1997,the
Company adopted a formal plan to sell its workers’
compensation segment which was accounted for as
discontinued operations.On December 10,1998,
the Company completed the sale of the workers’
compensation segment.The net assets sold consisted
p ri m a rily of inve s t m e n t s ,p remiums and re i n s u r a n c e
receivables,and reserves for claims.The selling price
was $257.1 million in cash.

Total revenues for the workers’compensation
segment amounted to $560.9 million and $518.7 mil-
lion in 1997 and 1996, respectively. Net income
(loss) amounted to a $30.4 million loss in 1997 and
income of $22.2 million in 1996 after applicable
income tax benefits of $32.7 million and expense of
$1.2 million, respectively.

In December 1997,the Company estimated
that the loss on the disposal of the workers’com-
pensation segment would approximate $99.0 million
(net of income tax benefit of $21.0 million) which
included an anticipated loss from operations during
the phase-out period from December 1997 through
the date of disposal.The pre-tax loss in 1998 was 
an additional $30.2 million.This was offset by an
increase in the rate of the tax benefit of the trans-
action to 35%.A c c o rd i n g l y, the accompanying state-
ment of operations for the year ended December 31,
1998 does not reflect any additional net gain or 
loss from the disposition.

L o u i s i a n a , O k l a h o m a , and Texas – I n
N ovember 1998, the Company entered into a 
d e f i n i t ive agreement to sell its health plan sub-
s i d i a ries in Louisiana, Oklahoma and Te x a s .T h e
transaction is subject to va rious closing conditions,
including the receipt of all necessary re g u l a t o ry
a p p rovals and certain financial contingencies, a n d
is expected to close in the first half of 1999.
I m p a i rment charges re c o rded in 1998 include a
w rite down of the carrying value of these plans 
to their expected net re a l i z a ble va l u e.

Call Center Operations – In December 19 98, t h e
Company sold the clinical algorithms used in its call
center operations for $36.3 million in cash,net of
transaction costs, and re c o rded a gain of $1.2 million.
In addition, the Company entered into a long-term
s e rvices agreement with the bu yer to provide such
s e rvices to its members for a period of 10 ye a rs .

1997 Transactions
Advantage Health – On April 1,1997, the Company
completed the acquisition of Advantage Health,
a group of managed health care companies based 
in Pittsbu r g h , Pe n n s y l va n i a , for $12.5 million in cash.
The acquisition was re c o rded using purchase account-
ing and the excess of the purchase price over the
fair value of the net liabilities assumed of $19.7 mil-
lion was recorded as goodwill.In December 1998,
the Company adjusted the car rying value of the
goodwill to its estimated fair value (see Note 15).
Advantage Health remains a party to long-term
provider agreements with the seller.

PACC – On October 22,1997,effective
October 1,1997,the Company completed the
acquisitions of PACC HMO and PACC Health
Plans (collectively,“PACC”), which are managed
health care companies based near Portland,Oregon,
for a purchase price of approximately $43.7 million
in cash.The acquisition was re c o rded using pur-
chase accounting and the excess of the purchase
price over the fair value of the assets acquired was
recorded as goodwill.The goodwill,in the amount
of $32.2 million, is being amortized on a straight-
line basis over 40 years.

FOHP – On April 30,1997,the Company
made a $51.7 million investment in FOHP, Inc.
(“FOHP”).FOHP was owned by physicians, hospi-
tals and other health care providers and was the sole
shareholder of First Option Health Plan of New
Jersey, Inc. (“FOHP-NJ”),a managed health care
company.The Company’s initial investment was in
the form of FOHP debentures convertible into up
to 71 percent of FOHP’s outstanding equity at the
Company’s discretion.As of December 1,1997, the
Company converted these initial FOHP debentures
into 71 percent of FOHP’s equity. Additionally,
effective December 8,1997,FOHP issued an addi-
tional $29.0 million of convertible debentures to 
the Company which immediately converted approx-
imately $18.9 million of these debentures into an
additional 27 percent of FOHP’s outstanding equity
increasing FHS’ equity holding in FOHP to approx-
imately 98 percent.Goodwill of $107.7 million was
recorded as a result of these transactions and is being
amortized on a straight-line basis over 40 years.On
December 31,1997,the Company purchased non-
convertible debentures in the amount of $24 million
from FOHP. On December 31,1998,the Company
converted approximately $1.2 million of its remain-
ing principal amount of c o nve rt i ble debentures of
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FOHP into common stock of FOHP. As a result,
the Company now owns approximately 99.6% of
the outstanding equity of FOHP. The Company is
currently in the process of consummating the pur-
chase of the remaining minority interest in FOHP.

P hysicians Health Services – On December 31,
1 9 9 7 , the Company completed the acquisition of
P hysicians Health Serv i c e s ,I n c. ( “ P H S ” ) , a group of
managed health care companies based in Shelton,
C o n n e c t i c u t .The Company paid approximately 
$265 million for the approximately nine million PHS
s h a res then outstanding and caused PHS to cash-out
a p p roximately $6 million in PHS employee stock
options as part of the acquisition.The acquisition has
been re c o rded using purchase accounting and the
excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the
assets acquired was re c o rded as goodwill.The good-
w i l l , in the amount of $218.9 million, is being amor-
tized on a straight-line basis over 40 ye a rs .

Christiania General Insurance Corporation – On
May 14, 1997,the Business Insurance Group, Inc., a
subsidiary of the Company, acquired the Christiania
General Insurance Corporation of New York
(“CGIC”) for $12.7 million in cash.The acquisition
has been recorded using purchase accounting and
the excess of the purchase price over the fair value
of the assets acquired was recorded as goodwill.The
goodwill,in the amount of $5.2 million, was being
amortized on a straight-line basis over 20 years.As
previously discussed,the workers’compensation
segment is reported as discontinued operations and
includes CGIC.The remaining goodwill was re f l e c t e d
in the calculation of the net loss on the sale of 
this segment.

The following table reflects unaudited pro
forma combined results of operations of the Com-
pany and Advantage Health, PACC, FOHP, PHS,
and CGIC on the basis that the acquisitions had
taken place at the beginning of each year ended
December 31 (in thousands,except per share data):

1997 1996

Total revenues $8,373,830 $7,593,247
Loss from continuing 

operations (176,589) (1,890)
Net income (loss) (295,746) 45,570
Basic and diluted earnings 

(loss) per share:
Continuing operations (1.43) (0.02)
Net (2.39) 0.37

1996 Transactions
Managed Health Network – In March 1996,the
Company issued stock for Managed Health Net-
work,Inc. and its subsidiaries (collectively “MHN”),
a privately held company providing employee assis-
tance and managed behavioral health programs in a
pooling of interests transaction valued at approxi-
mately $45 million.

Physician Practice Management Companies – 
On June 28,1996, the Company and the sole share-
holder of the Medical Practices executed a Stock
and Note Purchase Agreement whereby the Com-
pany sold all the outstanding stock of its manage-
ment services organization and the sole shareholder
sold all of the outstanding stock of the holding
company for the Medical Practices to FPA.The
aggregate consideration consisted of $2 million cash,
$75 million of FPA common stock,a $22 million
bridge note receivable and $104 million of Medical
Practices’notes payable to the Company which
were assumed by FPA.During the year ended
December 31,1997,the FPA common stock was
sold and the notes receivable were repaid by FPA.

The transaction was consummated in Nove m-
ber 1996 and the Company re c ognized a gain on
sale of $20.3 million, net of $17.6 million of taxe s ,
d u ring the quarter ended December 31, 1 9 9 6 .D u r-
ing the year ended December 31, 1 9 9 7 , the Com-
p a ny re c ognized an additional $10.1 million gain on
s a l e, net of $2.8 million of taxe s , based on the final
settlement of certain contractual provisions related 
to the disposition of the Medical Practices.

During January and June of 1996, the Com-
pany completed the sale of its affiliated independent
practice associations (“IPAs”) in California,Florida
and Arizona to FPA for total consideration of $30
million in cash and notes. Gains of $10.8 million
were recognized by the Company during the year
ended December 31,1996 and are included in
income from discontinued operations.

This segment was accounted for as discontin-
ued operations in 1996. Total revenues (unaudited)
for the eleven-month period ended November 30,
1996 were $153.5 million (before intercompany
eliminations of $129.5 million) with corresponding
net losses from operations of $44.7 million after a
tax benefit of $32.4 million.After considering the
losses previously accrued,the net income from dis-
continued operations was $2.9 million.
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At December 31,1998,the contractual matu-
rities of the Company’s available-for-sale investments
were as follows (in thousands):

Estimated
Cost Fair Value

Due in one year or less $104,855 $105,144
Due after one year 

through five years 170,234 173,512
Due after five years

through ten years 61,541 63,490
Due after ten years 36,238 36,695

372,868 378,841
Asset-backed securities 135,819 137,900
Equity securities 27,103 8,341

Total available for sale $535,790 $525,082

P roceeds from sales and maturities of
investments available for sale during 1998 were
$718.4 million, resulting in realized gains and losses
of $3.6 million and $0.3 million, respectively. P ro-
ceeds from sales and maturities of i nve s tments
available for sale during 1997 were $597.7 million,
resulting in realized gains and losses of $4.7 million
and $0.1 million, re s p e c t ive l y. Proceeds from sales

and maturities of investments available for sale dur-
ing 1996 were $441.6 million, resulting in realized
gains and losses of $2.5 million and $0.3 million,
respectively.

Note 5 – Pro p e rty and Equipment
Property and equipment comprised the following at
December 31 (amounts in thousands):

1998 1997

Land $ 25,195 $ 28,302
Construction in progress 17,824 19,472
Buildings and improvements 157,056 159,571
F u rn i t u re, equipment and softwa re 533,897 526,781

733,972 734,126
Less accumulated depreciation 388,703 306,977

$345,269 $427,149

D e p reciation expense on pro p e rty and equip-
ment was $85.8 million, $58.1 million and $67.7 mil-
lion for the ye a rs ended December 31, 1 9 9 8 ,1 9 9 7
and 1996. I m p a i rment charges in 1998 amounted to
$61.2 million (see Note 15).

Note 4 – Investments
As of December 31,the amortized cost, gross unrealized holding gains and losses and fair value of the Company’s
available-for-sale investments were as follows (in thousands):

1998

Gross Gross
Unrealized Unrealized

Amortized Holding Holding Fair
Cost Gains Losses Value

Asset-backed securities $135,819 $2,120 $ (39) $137,900
U.S. government and agencies 59,527 1,385 (48) 60,864
Obligations of states and other political subdivisions 181,464 2,964 (17) 184,411
Corporate debt securities 57,468 1,539 (36) 58,971
Equity securities 27,103 — (18,762) 8,341
Other securities 74,409 209 (23) 74,595

$535,790 $8,217 $(18,925) $525,082

1997

Gross Gross
Unrealized Unrealized

Amortized Holding Holding Fair
Cost Gains Losses Value

Asset-backed securities $122,313 $ 901 $ (1,537) $121,677
U.S. government and agencies 88,468 808 (269) 89,007
Obligations of states and other political subdivisions 184,399 1,742 (144) 185,997
Corporate debt securities 73,521 704 (122) 74,103
Equity securities 27,943 — (12,871) 15,072
Other securities 67,087 58 — 67,145

$563,731 $4,213 $(14,943) $553,001
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Revolving Credit Facility
The Company established in July 1997, a $1.5 billion
credit facility (the “Credit Facility”) with Bank 
of A m e rica [as A d m i n i s t r a t ive Agent for the Lenders
t h e re t o, as amended in A p ri l , July and N ove m b e r
1998 and March 1999 (the “Amendments”)].All
previous revolving credit facilities were terminated
and rolled into the Credit Facility.At the election of
the Company, and subject to customary covenants,
loans are initiated on a bid or committed basis and
carry interest at offshore or domestic rates,at the
applicable LIBOR Rate plus margin or the bank
reference rate. Actual rates on borrowings under the
Credit Facility vary, based on competitive bids and
the Company ’s unsecured credit rating at the time of
the borrowing (6.19% and 5.98% at December 31,
1998 and 1997, re s p e c t ive l y ) . Under the A m e n d m e n t s ,
the Company’s public issuer rating becomes the
exclusive means of setting the facility fee and bor-
rowing rates under the Credit Facility. In addition,
certain covenants including financial covenants were
amended.The Credit Facility is available for five
years,until July 2002, but it may be extended under
certain circumstances for two additional years.The
weighted average annual interest rate on the Com-
pany’s notes payable and capital leases was approxi-
mately 6.30%,6.24% and 6.39% for the years ended
December 31,1998,1997 and 1996.The maximum
amount outstanding under the Credit Facility dur-
ing 1998 was $1.39 billion.

As of December 31,1998,the Company was
in compliance with the financial covenants of the
Credit Facility, as amended in March 1999.

Scheduled principal re p ayments on notes
p aya bl e, capital leases and other financing arr a n g e m e n t s
for the next five ye a rs are as follows (in thousands):

1999 $ 1,760
2000 11,282
2001 865
2002 1,225,958
2003 1,060
Thereafter 15,113

Total notes payable and capital leases $1,256,038

Note 7 – Stock Option And Employee Stock Purchase Plans
The Company has various Stock Option plans
which cover certain employees,officers and non-
employee directors,and employee stock purchase
plans under which substantially all full-time employ-
ees of the Company are eligible to participate.The
stockholders have approved all of these plans except
for the 1998 Stock Option Plan which was adopted
by the Company’s Board of Directors.

Under the 1989,1990,1991,1992,1993,
1997 and 1998 employee stock option plans and the
non-employee director stock option plan,the Com-
pany grants options at prices at or above the fair
market value of the stock on the date of grant.The
options carry a maximum term of up to 10 years
and in general vest ratably over three to five years.
The Company has reserved a total of 23.2 million
shares of its Class A Common Stock for issuance
under the stock option plans.

Under the 1997 Employee Stock Purchase
plans, the Company provides employees with the
opportunity to purchase stock through payroll
deductions.Eligible employees may purchase on 
a monthly basis the Company’s Class A Common
Stock at 85% of the lower of the market price 
on either the first or last day of each month.

Note 6 – Notes Payable, Capital Leases and Other Financing Arr a n g e m e n t s
Notes payable, capital leases and other financing arrangements comprised the following at December 31 (amounts in
thousands):

1998 1997

Revolving credit facility, variable interest at LIBOR plus 1.50% at 
December 31,1998,unsecured $1,225,000 $1,265,000

Note payable, due December 2000,interest at 7.95%,unsecured 10,500 22,500
Note payable to the California Wellness Foundation,

due quarterly with a balloon payment due 2006, variable interest 
of 2.5% above 3 year Treasury Note auction rate, 8.16% and 10.27% at 
December 31,1998 and 1997, respectively, secured by a cash collateral pledge 17,646 18,754

Capital leases and other notes payable 2,892 6,318

Total notes payable and capital leases 1,256,038 1,312,572
Less notes payable and capital leases – current portion 1,760 3,593

Notes payable and capital leases – noncurrent portion $1,254,278 $1,308,979



F O U N DATION HEALTH SYSTEMS, I N C. 4 5

The weighted average fair value for options
granted during 1998, 1997 and 1996 was $6.00,
$9.95 and $10.46, respectively.The fair values were
estimated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing
model.The following weighted average assumptions
we re used in the fair value calculation for 1998, 19 9 7
and 1996, respectively:(i) risk-free interest rate of
4.57%, 5.71% and 6.23%;(ii) expected option lives
of 1.9 years,3.7 years and 2.7 years; (iii) expected
volatility of 44.5%, 30.0% and 37. 6 % ; and (iv) no
e x p e c t e d dividend yield.

The Company applies APB Opinion 25 
and related Interpretations in accounting for its
plans.Accordingly, no compensation cost has been
recognized for its stock option or employee stock
purchase plans. Had compensation cost for the
Company’s plans been determined based on the fair
value at the grant dates of options and employee
purchase rights consistent with the method of SFAS
No. 123,the Company’s net income and earnings
per share would have been reduced to the pro
forma amounts indicated below for the years ended
December 31 (amounts in thousands,except per
share data):

Stock option activity and weighted average exe rcise prices for the ye a rs ended December 31 is presented below :

1998 1997 1996

Weighted Weighted Weighted
Average Average Average

Number of Exercise Number of Exercise Number of Exercise
Options Price Options Price Options Price

Outstanding at January 1 9,636,831 $29.94 7,051,940 $27.75 6,519,232 $24.44
Granted 8,021,018 14.05 3,912,040 32.18 2,338,031 32.50
Exercised (514,064) 18.64 (830,021) 22.66 (1,237,312) 19.52
Canceled (3,725,312) 30.28 (497,128) 28.61 (568,011) 27.32

Outstanding at December 31 13,418,473 $20.87 9,636,831 $29.94 7,051,940 $27.75

Exercisable at December 31 4,140,362 5,116,533 4,640,576

The following table summarizes the weighted average exercise price and weighted average remaining
contractual life for significant option groups outstanding at December 31,1998:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Weighted Average Weighted Weighted
Range of Number of Remaining Average Number of Average

Exercise Prices Options Contractual Life Exercise Price Options Exercise Price

$9.88 – $12.25 507,338 9.69 years $11.88 10,338 $11.66
12.57 – 12.94 6,570,228 6.07 years 12.94 11,576 12.61
13.50 – 32.50 5,387,657 7.35 years 28.11 3,165,198 27.29
32.79 – 52.81 953,250 6.33 years 39.45 953,250 39.45

$9.88 – $52.81 13,418,473 6.74 years $20.87 4,140,362 $30.01

1998 1997 1996

Net income (loss) As reported $(165,158) $(187,084) $84,231
Pro forma (171,022) (193,638) 69,226

Basic earnings (loss) per share As reported (1.35) (1.52) 0.67
Pro forma (1.40) (1.57) 0.56

Diluted earnings (loss) per share As reported (1.35) (1.52) 0.67
Pro forma (1.40) (1.56) 0.55
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On December 4, 1 9 9 8 , options representing
a p p roximately 1.9 million shares of stock granted
during 1990 through 1997 at exe rcise prices rangi n g
f rom $11.70 to $35.25 we re exchanged for options
representing a p p roximately 1.4 million shares of
stock at an exercise price of $12.94,which was the
fair market value of the underlying shares at the
grant date.

As fair value criteria was not applied to
option grants and employee purchase rights prior 
to 1995,and additional awards in future years are
anticipated,the effects on net income and earnings
per share in this pro forma disclosure may not be
indicative of future amounts.

Note 8 – Capital Stock
The Company has two classes of Common Stock.
The Company’s Class B Common Stock has the
same economic benefits as the Company’s Class A
Common Stock but is non-voting. Upon the sale or
transfer of shares of Class B Common Stock by the
California Wellness Foundation (the “CWF”) to an
unrelated third party, such shares automatically con-
vert into Class A Common Stock.The CWF is the
only holder of record of the Company’s Class B
Common Stock.
Public Offering
On May 15,1996, the Company completed a public
offering in which the Company sold 3,194,374
shares of Class A Common Stock and the CWF sold
6,386,510 shares of Class A Common Stock (consti-
tuting 6,386,510 shares of Class B Common Stock
which automatically converted into shares of Class A
Common Stock upon the sale) for a per share pur-
chase price to the public of $30.00 (the “Offering”).
The net proceeds received by the Company from
the sale of the 3,194,374 shares of Class A Common
Stock were approximately $92.4 million after
deducting underwriting discounts and commissions
and estimated expenses of the Offering payable by
the Company.The Company used its net proceeds
from the Offering to repurchase 3,194,374 shares of
Class A Common Stock from certain Class A Stock-
holders.The Company repurchased these shares 
of Class A Common Stock from the Class A Stock-
holders at $30.00 per share less transaction costs
associated with the Offering,amounting to $1.08
per share.All of these 3,194,374 shares of Class A
Common Stock repurchased are currently held in
treasury.The Company did not receive any of the
proceeds from the sale of shares of Class A Common
Stock in the Offering by the CWF.

On June 27,1997, the Company redeemed
4,550,000 shares of Class B Common Stock from

the CWF at a price of $24.47 per share.The Com-
pany provided its consent to permit the CWF to 
sell 3,000,000 shares of Class B Common Stock to
an unrelated third party in June of 1997 and to sell
450,000 shares of Class B Common Stock to unre-
lated third parties throughout August of 1997.On
November 6, 1997,the Company also provided its
consent to permit the CWF to sell 1,000,000 shares
of Class B Common Stock to an unrelated third
party. In addition,effective June 18,1998,the Com-
pany gave its consent to permit the CWF to sell
(and the CWF sold) 5,250,000 shares of Class B
Common Stock to an unrelated third party. Pur-
suant to the Company’s Certificate of Incorpora-
tion,all of such shares of Class B Common Stock
automatically converted into shares of Class A Com-
mon Stock in the hands of such third parties.
Shareholder Rights Plan
On May 20, 1 9 9 6 , the Board of Dire c t o rs of the
C o m p a ny declared a dividend distri bution of one
right (a “Right”) for each outstanding share of the
C o m p a ny ’s Class A Common Stock and Class B
Common Stock (collective l y, the “Common Stock”),
to stockholders of re c o rd at the close of business on
July 31, 1996 (the “ R e c o rd Date”).The Board of
D i re c t o rs of the Company also authorized the
issuance of one Right for each share of Common
Stock issued after the Record Date and prior to the
earliest of the Distri bution Date (as defined below ) ,
the redemption of the Rights, and the expiration of
the Rights and in certain other circumstances Rights
will attach to all Common Stock certificates re p re-
senting shares then outstanding and no separate
Rights Certificates will be distri bu t e d .The Rights
will separate from the Common Stock in the eve n t
a ny person acquires 15% or more of the outstanding
Class A Common Stock, the Board of Dire c t o rs of
the Company declares a holder of 10% or more of
the outstanding Class A Common Stock to be an
“ A d ve rse Pe rs o n ,” or any person commences a ten-
der offer for 15% of the Class A Common Stock
(each event causing a “ D i s t ri bution Date”).

Except as set forth below and subject to
adjustment as provided in the Rights A gre e m e n t ,
each Right entitles its re gi s t e red holder, upon the
o c c u rrence of a Distri bution Date, to purchase fro m
the Company one one-thousandth of a share of
S e ries A Junior Pa rticipating Pre f e rred Stock, at a
p rice of $170.00 per one-thousandth share. H oweve r,
in the event any person acquires 15% or more of the
outstanding Class A Common Stock, or the Board of
D i re c t o rs of the Company declares a holder of 10%
or more of the outstanding Class A Common Stock
to be an “ A d ve rse Pe rs o n ,” the Rights (subject to 
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c e rtain exceptions contained in the Rights A gre e-
ment) will instead become exe rc i s a ble for Class A
Common Stock having a market value at such time
equal to $340.00.The Rights are re d e e m a ble under
c e rtain circumstances at $.01 per Right and will
e x p i re, unless earlier re d e e m e d , on July 31, 2 0 0 6 .

In connection with the FHS Combination,
the Company entered into Amendment No. 1 to
the Rights Agreement to exempt the FHS Combi-
nation and related transactions from triggering the
Rights. In addition,the amendment modified certain
terms of the Rights Agreement applicable to the
determination of certain “Adverse Persons,” which
modifications became effective upon consummation
of the FHS Combination.

Note 9 – Employee Benefit Plans
Defined Contribution Retirement Plans
The Company and certain subsidiaries sponsor
defined contribution retirement plans intended to
qualify under Sections 401(a) and 401(k) of the
Internal Revenue Code of 1986,as amended (the
“Code”). Participation in the plans is available to
substantially all employees who meet certain eligi-
bility requirements and elect to participate. Employ-
ees may contribute up to the maximum limits
allowed by Sections 401(k) and 415 of the Code,
with Company contributions based on matching or
other formulas.The Company’s expense under the
plans totaled $7.4 million,$4.2 million and $5.1
million for the years ended December 31,1998,
1997 and 1996, respectively.
Defer red Compensation Plans
Effective May 1,1998,the Company adopted a
deferred compensation plan pursuant to which cer-
tain management and highly compensated employ-
ees are eligible to defer between 5% and 50% of
their regular compensation and between 5% and
100% of their bonuses,and non-employee Board
members are eligible to defer up to 100% of their
directors compensation.The compensation deferred
under such plan is credited with earnings or losses
measured by the rate of return on investments
elected by plan participants.Each plan participant is
fully vested in all defer red compensation and ear n-
ings credited to his or her account.

Prior to May 1997,certain members of man-
agement,highly compensated employees and non-
employee Board members were permitted to defer
payment of up to 90% of their compensation under
a prior defer red compensation plan (the “Prior
Plan”).As part of the FHS Combination,the Prior
Plan was frozen in May 1997 at which time each
participant’s account was credited with three times

the 1996 Company match (or a lesser amount for
certain prior participants) and each participant
became 100% vested in all such contributions.The
current provisions with respect to the form and tim-
ing of payments under the Prior Plan remain
unchanged.At December 31,1998 and 1997, the
liability under these plans amounted to $27.9 mil-
lion and $29.3 million, respectively.The Company’s
expense under these plans totaled $6.1 million, $7.8
million and $3.7 million for the years ended
December 31,1998, 1997 and 1996, respectively.
Pension and Other Postretirement 
Benefit Plans
Retirement Plans – In 1995, the Company adopted
t wo unfunded non-qualified defined benefit pension
p l a n s , a Supplemental Exe c u t ive Retirement Plan
and a Dire c t o rs ’R e t i rement Plan (collective l y, t h e
“FHC SERPs”). In 1996, the Company adopted two
additional unfunded non-qualified defined benefit
pension plans, a Supplemental Exe c u t ive Retire m e n t
Plan and a Dire c t o rs ’R e t i rement Plan (collective l y,
the “HSI SERPs”).These plans cover key exe c u t ive s ,
as selected by the Board of Dire c t o rs , and non-
e m p l oyee dire c t o rs . Benefits under the plans are
based on ye a rs of service and level of compensation.

As part of the FHS Combination,the FHC
SERPs were frozen in April 1997 at which time
each participant became 100% vested in his or her
benefits under the plans which are equal to 90% of
the actuarial equivalent of the participant’s retire-
ment benefit as of December 31,1996.All benefits
under the FHC SERPs were paid out either in cash,
or as a rollover to the deferred compensation plan.

Postretirement Health and Life Plans – C e rt a i n
s u b s i d i a ries of the Company sponsor postre t i re m e n t
defined benefit health care plans that provide postre-
t i rement medical benefits to dire c t o rs , key exe c u t ive s ,
e m p l oyees and dependents who meet certain eligi b i l-
ity re q u i re m e n t s . Under these plans, the Company
p ays a percentage of the costs of medical, dental and
vision benefits during re t i re m e n t .The plans include
c e rtain cost-sharing features such as deductibl e s ,c o i n-
surance and maximum annual benefit amounts which
va ry based principally on ye a rs of credited serv i c e.

On December 31,1998,the Company
adopted SFAS No. 132 “Employers’Disclosures
about Pensions and Other Postretirement Benefits”
(“FAS 132”),which revises employers’ disclosures
about pension and other postretirement benefit
plans. FAS 132 standardizes the disclosure require-
ments.The Company has chosen to disclose the
information required by FAS 132 by aggregating
retirement plans into one category and postretire-
ment plans into another category.
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The following table sets forth the plans’funded status and amounts recognized in the Company’s
financial statements:

Pension Benefits Other Benefits

(in thousands) 1998 1997 1998 1997

Change in benefit obligation:
Benefit obligation,beginning of year $ 7,018 $ 5,540 $1,084 $ 1,142
Service cost 1,463 1,122 — —
Interest cost 674 417 73 86
Plan amendments 1,501 — 23 —
Benefits paid (188) — (138) (43)
Actuarial loss (gain) 3,479 (61) (46) (101)

Projected benefit obligation,end of year $ 13,947 $ 7,018 $ 996 $ 1,084

Change in fair value of plan assets:
Plan assets, beginning of year $ — — $ — $ —
Actual return on plan assets — — — —
Employer contribution 188 — 138 43
Benefits paid (188) — (138) (43)

Plan assets,end of year — — — —

Funded status of plans $(13,947) $(7,018) $ (996) $(1,084)
Unrecognized transition obligation — — — —
Unrecognized prior service cost 5,417 4,209 539 552
Unrecognized (gain)/loss 834 (713) (432) (421)

Net amount recognized $ (7,696) $(3,522) $ (889) $ (953)

Prepaid benefit cost:
Accrued benefit liability $ (9,391) $(4,572) $ (889) $ (953)
Intangible asset 1,695 1,050 — —

Net amount recognized $ (7,696) $(3,522) $ (889) $ (953)

The components of net periodic benefit costs for the years ended December 31,1998, 1997 and 1996 
are as follows:

Pension Benefits Other Benefits

(in thousands) 1998 1997 1996 1998 1997 1996

Service cost $1,463 $1,122 $1,066 $ — $ — $ 94
Interest cost 674 418 348 74 86 48
Amortization of unrecognized 

transition obligation — — — — 10 14
Amortization of unrecognized 

prior service cost 293 293 293 37 37 22
Amortization of unrecognized 

(gain)/loss 37 (17) — (24) (6) 3

2,467 1,816 1,707 87 127 181
Cost of subsidiary plan 

curtailment 1,896 — — (13) 531 —

Net periodic benefit cost $4,363 $1,816 $1,707 $ 74 $658 $181
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The projected benefit obl i g a t i o n ,a c c u mu l a t e d
benefit obligation and plan assets for the pension plan
we re $13,947,000, $ 9 , 3 9 1 , 0 0 0 , and $0 at December
3 1 ,1 9 9 8 , re s p e c t ive l y, and $7,018,000, $ 4 , 5 7 2 , 0 0 0 ,
and $0 at December 31, 1 9 9 7 , re s p e c t ive l y.

The weighted average annual discount rate
assumed was 6.75% and 7.25% for the years ended
December 31,1998 and 1997, respectively, for both
pension benefit plans and other postretirement ben-
efit plans.Weighted average compensation increases
of 6% for the years ended December 31,1998 and
1997 were assumed for the pension benefit plans.

For measurement purposes, a 6.25% annual
rate of increase in the per capita cost of covered
health care benefits was assumed for 1998, and 6.5%
was assumed for 1997.These rates were assumed to
decrease gradually to 4.5% in 2006 for 1998 and
2005 for 1997 and remain at that level thereafter.

The Company has multiple postretirement
benefit plans.The Company acquired PACC 
effective September 30,1997,including its frozen
post-retirement benefit plan.The PACC plan is
non-contributory.The FHC plan is contributory
by certain participants.The account for the FHC
plan anticipates future cost-sharing changes to the
plan consistent with the Company’s expressed intent
to increase retiree contributions at the same rate as
the Company’s premium increases.

A one-percentage-point change in assumed
health care cost trend rates would have the follow-
ing effects:

1-percentage 1-percentage
(in thousands) point increase point decrease

Effect on total of service and 
interest cost, 1998 11 (9)

Effect on postretirement benefit 
obligation,12/31/98 102 (84)

The Company has no minimum pension 
liability adjustment to be included in compre h e n-
s ive income.
Performance Based Annual Bonus Plan
In 1998,the Company adopted a Performance-
Based Annual Bonus Plan that qualified under 
Section 162(m) of the Code (the “162(m) Plan”).
Under the 162(m) Plan,if the Company achieved

greater than $250 million in consolidated income
from operations before taxes (as determined under
GAAP consistently applied,excluding any non-
re c u rring or extraord i n a ry charges), c e rtain exe c u t ive s
were potentially eligible to receive cash bonuses
from a pool of $7.5 million based on the executives’
salaries in relation to the pool.Amounts payable to
such executives from such pool were subject to
downward adjustment by the Company’s Compen-
sation and Stock Option Committee of the Board
of Directors.The $250 million performance goal 
for the 162(m) Plan was not met for 1998.

Note 10 – Income Ta x e s
Significant components of the provision (benefit) 
for income taxes are as follows for the years ended
December 31:

(in thousands) 1998 1997 1996

Current:
Federal $ 6,346 $(12,894) $13,687
State 3,897 3,183 2,593

Total current 10,243 (9,711) 16,280

Deferred:
Federal (121,800) (57,150) 7,420
State (7,630) (5,478) 1,123

Total deferred (129,430) (62,628) 8,543

Total provision 
(benefit) for 
income taxes $(119,187) $(72,339) $24,823

Income tax expense (benefit) is included in
the consolidated financial statements as follows for
the years ended December 31:

(in thousands) 1998 1997 1996

Continuing 
operations $ (88,996) $(21,418) $14,124

Discontinued 
operations (30,191) (50,921) 10,699

Total provision 
(benefit) for 
income taxes $(119,187) $(72,339) $24,823
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A reconciliation of the statutory federal
income tax rate and the effective income tax rate on
income from continuing operations is as follows for
the years ended December 31:

1998 1997 1996

Statutory federal income 
tax rate (35)% (35)% 35%

State and local taxes,net 
of federal income tax effect (1) (3) 3

Tax exempt interest income (1) (2) (3)
Goodwill amortization 6 6 6
Valuation allowance adjustment — (2) (5)
Merger transaction costs (3) 8 —
Pooling transactions — — (4)
IRS settlement — — (4)
Other, net (1) 4 (1)

Effective income tax rate (35)% (24)% 27%

Significant components of the Company’s
deferred tax assets and liabilities as of December 31
are as follows:

(in thousands) 1998 1997

D e f e rred Tax Assets:
Accrued liabilities $ 91,993 $ 70,547
Accrued compensation 

and benefits 31,097 28,150
Restructuring reser ves 30,462 30,057
Net operating loss carry f o r wa rd s 190,913 140,862
Other, net 9,283 1,524

Deferred tax assets 
before valuation allowance 353,748 271,140

Valuation allowance (48,452) (57,445)

Net deferred tax assets $305,296 $213,695

D e f e rred Tax Liabilities:
Depreciable and amortizable 

property $ 26,077 $ 66,608
Other, net 14 839

Deferred tax liabilities $ 26,091 $ 67,447

As of December 31,1998,the Company had
federal net operating loss carryforwards of approxi-
mately $469.0 million of which $111.0 million may
be subject to car ryover limitations under Section
382 of the Internal Revenue Code. A valuation
allowance has been provided to account for the
potential limitations associated with utilization of
net operating loss car ryforwards.The net operating
loss carryforwards expire between 2006 and 2018.

N o n c u rrent deferred tax assets of $144.9 mil-
lion at December 31, 1998 are included, net of non-
c u rrent deferred tax liabilities of $26.1 million, i n

other noncurrent assets. N o n c u rrent deferred tax
liabilities at December 31, 1997 of $67.4 million are
included in other noncurrent liabilities.

The valuation allowance increase of $56.2 mil-
lion in 1997 (decreased by $9.0 million in 1998) was
due to the acquisition of a subsidiary for which the
future realizability of such subsidiary’s deferred tax
assets,primarily related to net operating loss carry-
forwards,is uncertain.In the event that the defer red
tax assets related to this subsidiary are realized, the
future tax benefits will be allocated to reduce the
associated goodwill.

Note 11 – Regulatory Require m e n t s
All of the Company’s health plans as well as its
insurance subsidiaries are required to periodically
file financial statements with regulatory agencies in
accordance with statutory accounting and reporting
practices. Under the California Knox Keene Health
Care Service Plan Act of 1975,as amended,Cali-
fornia plans must comply with certain minimum 
capital or tangible net equity requirements.The
Company’s non-California health plans, as well as its
health and life insurance companies, must comply
with their respective state’s minimum regulatory net
worth requirements generally under the regulation
of the respective state’s department of insurance 
and in certain cases,maintain minimum investment
amounts for the re s t ricted use of the re g u l a t o rs which
as of December 31,1998 totaled $127.3 million.
Also, under certain government contracts, certain
subsidiaries are required to maintain a current ratio
of 1:1.

As a result of the above requirements and
c e rtain other re g u l a t o ry re q u i re m e n t s ,c e rtain subsid-
iaries are subject to restrictions on their ability to
make dividend payments, loans or other transfers
of cash to the Company. Such restrictions,unless
amended or waived, limit the use of any cash gener-
ated by these subsidiaries to pay obligations of the
Company. Management believes that as of Decem-
ber 31,1998, substantially all of the Company’s
health plans and insurance subsidiaries met their
respective regulatory requirements.

Note 12 – Commitments and Contingencies
Legal Proceedings
Complaints have been filed in federal and state
courts seeking an unspecified amount of damages
on behalf of an alleged class of persons who pur-
chased shares of common stock,convertible subordi-
nated debentures and options to purchase common
stock of FPA at various times between February 3,
1997 and May 15,1998.The complaints allege that
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the Company and certain former officers violated
federal and state securities laws by misrepresenting
and failing to disclose certain information about a
1996 agreement between the Company and FPA,
about FPA’s business and about the Company’s 1997
sale of FPA common stock held by the Company.
Management believes these suits are without merit
and intends to vigorously defend the actions.

The Company is involved in various other
legal proceedings,which are routine in its business.
In the opinion of management,based upon current
facts and circumstances known by the Company, the
resolution of these matters should not have a mater-
ial adverse effect on the financial position or results
of operations of the Company.
Operating Leases
The Company leases administrative and medical
office space under various operating leases.Certain
medical office space is subleased to participating
medical groups doing business with the Company.
Certain leases contain renewal options and rent
escalation clauses.

In 19 9 5 , the Company entered into a $60 mil-
lion tax retention operating lease with NationsBank
of Texas, N.A., as Administrative Agent for the
Lenders who are parties thereto, and First Security
Bank of Utah, N.A.,as Owner Trustee, (the “TROL
Agreement”) for the construction of health care
centers and corporate facilities. Under the TROL
Agreement, rental payments commence upon com-
pletion of construction, with a guarantee of 87% to
the lessor of the residual value of properties leased at
the end of the lease term.After the initial five year
noncancelable lease term,the lease may be extended
by agreement of the parties or the Company must
purchase or arrange for sale of the leased properties.
The Company has committed to a guaranteed resid-
ual value of $35.3 million under this agreement at
December 31,1998.

Future minimum lease commitments for
noncancelable operating leases at December 31,
1998 are as follows (amounts in thousands):

1999 $ 47,933
2000 41,084
2001 36,161
2002 22,453
2003 12,203
Thereafter 9,582

Total minimum lease commitments $169,416

Rent expense totaled $50.3 million,
$48.7 million and $46.8 million in 1998,1997 
and 1996, respectively.

Note 13 – Related Part i e s
Two current directors of the Company and one
prior director are partners in law firms which
re c e ived legal fees totaling $1.0 million, $1.1 million,
and $1.0 million in 1998,1997, and 1996, respec-
tively. One current director is an officer of IBM
which the Company paid $8.0 million for services
in 1998,and one current director is also a director
of a temporary staffing company which the Com-
pany paid $20.4 million for services in1998.An offi-
cer of a contracted hospital was also a member of
the Company’s Board of Directors until April 1,
1997.Medical costs paid to the provider totaled
$67.1 million and $58.7 million in 1997 and 1996,
respectively. Such contracted hospital is also 
an employer group of the Company from which the
C o m p a ny re c e ives premium reve nues at standard rates.

Note 14 – Asset Impairment, Merg e r, Restructuring and
Other Charg e s

The following sets forth the principal components
of merger, restructuring and other costs for the year
ended December 31:

(amounts in millions) 1998 1997 1996

Severance and benefit 
related costs $ 21.2 $ 61.4 $ 5.4

Provider network 
consolidation costs — 36.2 —

Asset impairment costs — 44.0 17.4
Real estate lease 

termination costs — 5.2 4.6

Total restructuring costs 21.2 146.8 27.4
Asset impairments and other 

charges related to FPA
Medical Management 84.1 — —

Asset impairment charges
and other 112.4 — —

Merger related costs — 69.6 —
Gem costs — 57.5 —
Other costs 57.3 122.0 16.7

Total $275.0 $395.9 $44.1

1998 Charges
On July 19, 1 9 9 8 ,F PA Medical Management, I n c.
( “ F PA”) filed for bankruptcy protection under Chap-
ter 11 of the Federal Bankruptcy Code. F PA ,t h ro u g h
its affiliated medical gro u p s ,p rovided services to
a p p roximately 190,000 of the Company ’s affiliated
m e m b e rs in A rizona and Californ i a .F PA has discon-
t i nued its medical group operations in these marke t s .
As a re s u l t , the Company is seeking new tenants for,
or will sell, the 13 healthcare facilities it leased to FPA
in these markets and has made other arrangements for
p rovider services to the Company ’s affiliated members .
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Based on these events and circumstances,
management believes that the likely replacement
lease terms from these properties or the net pro-
ceeds from a sale of the facilities will be inadequate
to enable the Company to recover their car rying
value. Based on management’s best estimate of
recovery for the real estate and the impairment of
notes receivable and other Company assets due to
the FPA bankruptcy filing,the Company recorded
charges totaling approximately $84.1 million which
was comprised of $63.0 million for real estate asset
impairments, $10.0 million for a note receivable
impairment and $11.1 million for other items.

D u ring the third quarter ended September 30,
1998,excluding $28.1 million related to the FPA
b a n k ruptcy as discussed above, the Company re c o rd e d
$146.9 million of restructuring and other charges.
These charges were primarily related to severance
costs of $21.2 million related to staff reduction in
selected health plans and the corporate centraliza-
tion and consolidation;other special charges totaling
$38.7 million which included the adjustment of
amounts due from a hospital system that filed bank-
ruptcy totaling $18.6 million,premium deficiency
re s e rves for certain of the Company ’s non-core health
plans totaling $12.0 million and $8.1 million related
to other items.Other charges not included in the
t a ble above totaling $87.0 million we re mostly re l a t e d
to contractual adjustments and we re pri m a ri l y
included in health care costs within the consolidated
statement of operations.As of December 31, 1 9 9 8 ,
$40.9 million of the total $175 million has resulted in
cash outlays and $27.5 million is expected to require
future outlays of cash.

D u ring the fourth quarter ended December 31,
19 9 8 , the Company re c o rded impairment and other
charges totaling $185.9 million. Of this amount,
$112.4 million related to impairment of certain long-
l ived assets to be disposed of (see Note 15).T h e
Company recorded $18.6 million of other charges
p ri m a rily related to litigation in the normal course of
business.The Company also re c o rded other charges
not included in the table above totaling $54.9 million
primarily related to bad debts,claims and premium
deficiency reserves for certain health plans whose
health care costs exceeded the contractual pre m i u m s .
These charges are included as part of health plan
s e rvices and selling, general and administrative expenses
within the consolidated statement of operations.
1997 Charges
Restructuring Costs – In connection with the FHS
Combination,the Company adopted a restructuring
plan effective June 30,1997 (the “June 1997 Plan”),
the principal elements of which include:a work-
force reduction of approximately 1,050 employees,

the consolidation of employee benefit plans,the
consolidation of facilities in geographic locations
where office space is duplicated, the consolidation 
of overlapping provider networks, and the consoli-
dation of information systems at all locations to
standardized systems.The June 1997 Plan,which is
substantially completed as of December 31,1998,
resulted in a restructuring charge of $185.5 million
for the quarter ended June 30,1997.

Severance and benefit related costs include a
termination benefits plan and contractually required
change of control payments to senior executives.
Also included are the costs of settlements of benefit
plans terminated as a result of the restructuring plan
to conform benefits for the merged companies.
Provider network consolidation costs include costs
to consolidate overlapping provider networks, pri-
marily in California,and the costs of exiting existing
provider contracts as legally, regulatory or adminis-
tratively required.Real estate lease termination costs
include facilities consolidation costs primarily in
geographic regions where there is overlapping office
space usage.Asset impairment costs are primarily a
result of the Company’s plan to be on common
operating systems and hardware platforms.These
costs include impairment of hardware, software and
other systems related assets.

During December 1997, the Company
adopted a restructuring plan (the “December 1997
Plan”) and recorded a $6.0 million restructuring
charge related to the Company’s Eastern Division
health plans before a $2.7 million reduction for the
December 1996 Plan (see “1996 Charges”). The
plan relates to the integration of the Company ’s
E a s t e rn Division operations in connection with its
acquisition of PHS and FOHP in 1997.

The Company also re c o rded a credit of $44.7
million for previously re c o rded re s t ru c t u ring charges
d u ring the fourth quarter of 1997.The credit consists of
$42.0 million for the June 1997 Plan and $2.7 million
for the December 1996 Plan (see “1996 Charges”).

The restructuring credits to the June 1997
Plan resulted from the following:$22.2 million from
the Company’s determination to continue to oper-
ate certain facilities originally identified for lease
termination,$9.7 million from reductions to initially
anticipated involuntary severance costs,$8.1 million
from reductions to certain anticipated provider net-
work consolidation and other contract termination
costs and $2.0 million in reductions to asset impair-
ment costs primarily related to the reclassification of
workers’compensation insurance subsidiaries related
charges to discontinued operations.

Of the $146.8 million in net re s t ru c t u ring c o s t s
re c o rded as part of the 1997 plans, $86.9 million
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represented cash payments and $42.2 million non-
cash activities through December 31, 1998. As of
December 31,1998, $13.8 million is expected to
require future outlays of cash and $3.9 million
represents future noncash activities.

Merger Costs – In connection with the June
1997 Plan,$69.6 million in merger costs were
recorded.The significant components of the charge
include the following:$22.6 million of transaction
costs,primarily consisting of investment banking,
legal, accounting, filing and printing fees; $22.7 mil-
lion of merger consulting costs;$5.9 million of for-
mer senior executive consulting costs;$2.4 million
of directors and officers liability coverage required
by the merger agreement;$9.6 million in costs 
to consolidate debt facilities;and $6.4 million of
other merger related costs.

Other Costs – During the quarters ended 
June 30,and December 31,1997,$89.7 million and
$32.3 million, respectively, in other costs were
recorded.The significant components of the charge
included the following:$30.5 million for receivables
related to provider contracts that will not be re n ewe d ;
$17.2 for government receivables related to prior
contracts and adjustments on current contracts
being negotiated with the Department of Defense;
$15.1 million for litigation settlement estimates 
primarily related to former FHC subsidiaries;
$12.6 million for the loss on sale of the United
Kingdom operations;$16.1 million for loss contract
accruals,including $10.1 million related to the
Company’s health plans in Texas,Louisiana and
Oklahoma;$7.7 million related to contract termina-
tion costs;$8.2 million in other receivables;and
$14.6 million of other costs.

These costs are shown as other costs on the
Company’s consolidated statement of operations
because of their nature. If not for their nature, a p p rox-
imately $53.8 million would have been recorded as
health plan services,$38.4 million as selling, general
and administrative and $17.2 million as government
health care services.

Gem Costs – The Company established a 
premium deficiency of $57.5 million related to the
Company’s Gem Insurance Company (“Gem”) dur-
ing the year ended December 31,1997.During the
quarter ended June 30,1997,the Company had
reached a definitive agreement regarding a reinsur-
ance transaction with The Centennial Life Insurance
Company (“Centennial”).Pursuant to this agree-
ment,Centennial was to reinsure and manage Gem’s
accident and health, life and annuity policies in
exchange for a reinsurance premium.The cost of
the reinsurance along with the write-down of cer-
tain Gem assets that were not recoverable based on

the terms of the agreement totaled $57.5 million.
The transaction was not ultimately consummated due
to the unanticipated fa i l u re to satisfy certain closing
c o n d i t i o n s , including the fa i l u re to re c e ive cert a i n
re g u l a t o ry approva l s . Gem established a re s e rve for the
estimated premium deficiency related to these poli-
cies for the intervening peri o d .As of December 31,
1 9 9 8 , this charge was substantially completed.
1996 Charges
During 1996, the Company recorded restructuring
costs of $27.4 million which included $5.4 million
of executive and other involuntary severance costs,
$17.4 million of software, hardware and other asset
impairment costs, and $4.6 million of facilities
consolidation costs (the “December 1996 Plan”).
As stated above under “1997 Costs,” $2.7 million in
reductions to the December 1996 Plan we re re c o rd e d
during 1997 as a result of the Company’s decision
to continue to operate certain facilities originally
identified for lease termination.

The Company also recorded $16.7 million 
of other costs in 1996 including loss contract accru-
als related to governmental employer groups in the
Company’s non-California markets, consulting and
other costs. If not for their unusual nature, a p p rox i-
mately $8.5 million of these costs would have been
recorded as health plan services and $8.2 million 
as selling, general and a d m i n i s t r a t ive expenses. N o
f u rther costs are expected.

Note 15 – Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
During 1998, the Company initiated a formal plan
to dispose of certain Central Division health plans
included in the Company’s Health Plan Services
segment in accordance with previously disclosed
anticipated divestitures program. It is anticipated 
that the sales of these health plans will be completed
during the first half of 1999.Pursuant to SFAS 
N o. 1 2 1 , “Accounting for the Impairment of
Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to be
Disposed of,” the Company evaluated the carrying
values of the assets for these health plans and deter-
mined that they exceeded their estimated fair values.
Accordingly, in the fourth quarter of 1998, the
Company adjusted the carrying value of these long-
lived assets to their estimated fair value, resulting in a
noncash asset impairment charge of approximately
$112.4 million (see Note 14).This asset impairment
charge of $112.4 million consists of $40.3 million
for write-down of furniture, equipment and soft-
ware, $20.9 million write-down of buildings and
improvements,$30.0 million for write-down of
goodwill and $21.2 million for other impairments
and other charges.The fair value is based on
expected net realizable value.
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Presented below are segment data for the three years in the period ended December 31,1998 (amounts 
in thousands):

Government
Contracts/

Health Plan Specialty
1998 Services Services Other Total

Revenues from external sources $7,440,981 $1,356,054 $ — $8,797,035
Intersegment revenues 16,388 234,380 — 250,768
Investment and other income 69,760 18,110 16,011 103,881
Interest expense 11,937 805 1,927 14,669
Depreciation and amortization 87,579 15,104 2,074 104,757
Asset impairment costs(i) 147,596 5,200 15,162 167,958
Restructuring, merger and other charges ( i) 7,107 — 19,871 26,978
Segment profit (loss)(i) (154,613) 113,832 (33,161) (73,942)
Segment assets 2,799,484 1,099,368 142,143 4,040,995

(i ) Asset impairment, restructuring,merger and other charges exclude $135.9 million of other charges which were primarily included in health plan services expenses.

Government
Contracts/

Health Plan Specialty
1997 Services Services Other Total

Revenues from external sources $5,829,444 $1,291,275 $ — $7,120,719
Intersegment revenues 28,487 304,678 — 333,165
Investment and other income 72,351 19,248 13,906 105,505
Interest expense 8,474 1,443 2,243 12,160
Depreciation and amortization 67,952 9,648 2,019 79,619
Restructuring, merger and other charges 181,165 40,399 315 221,879
Segment profit (loss) 14,864 58,332 655 73,851
Segment assets 3,457,663 527,859 87,052 4,072,574

Government
Contracts/

Health Plan Specialty
1996 Services Services Other Total

Revenues from external sources $5,395,125 $1,225,723 $ — $6,620,848
Intersegment revenues 20,108 297,378 — 317,486
Investment and other income 63,211 8,808 11,180 83,199
Interest expense 5,460 1,071 672 7,203
Depreciation and amortization 88,369 9,505 348 98,222
Restructuring, merger and other charges 19,708 4,500 — 24,208
Segment profit (loss) 45,777 18,052 — 63,829

Note 16 – Segment Inform a t i o n
As of December 31, 1 9 9 8 , the Company adopted
S FAS No. 1 3 1 ,“ D i s c l o s u res About Segments of an
E n t e rp rise and Related Inform a t i o n ”( “ S FAS 131”).
S FAS 131 establishes annual and interim re p o rt i n g
s t a n d a rds for an enterp ri s e ’s re p o rt a ble segments and
related disclosures about its pro d u c t s ,s e rv i c e s ,g e o-
graphic areas and major customers . Under SFAS 131,
re p o rt a ble segments are to be defined on a basis con-
sistent with re p o rts used by management to assess
p e r f o rmance and allocate re s o u rc e s .The Company ’s
re p o rt a ble segments are business units that offer dif-
f e rent products to different classes of customers .T h e
C o m p a ny has two re p o rt a ble segments: Health Plan

S e rvices and Gove rnment Contracts/Specialty Ser-
v i c e s .The Health Plan Services segment provides a
c o m p re h e n s ive range of health care services thro u g h
HMO and PPO netwo r k s .The Gove rnment Con-
tracts/Specialty Services segment administers large,
mu l t i - year managed care gove rnment contracts and
also offers behav i o r a l ,d e n t a l ,v i s i o n , and pharm a c e u-
tical products and serv i c e s .

The Company evaluates performance and
allocates resources based on profit or loss from oper-
ations before income taxes.The accounting policies
of the reportable segments are the same as those
described in the summary of significant accounting
policies, except intersegment transactions are not
eliminated.
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The following are reconciliations of reportable segment revenues,profit or loss, segment assets,and other
significant items for the three years in the period ended December 31, 1998 (amounts in thousands):

1998 1997 1996

Revenues:
Total external revenues $ 8,797,035 $ 7,120,719 $6,620,848
Total intersegment revenues 250,768 333,165 317,486
Eliminations (250,768) (333,165) (317,486)

Consolidated $ 8,797,035 $ 7,120,719 $6,620,848

Profit or Loss:
Total for reportable segments $ (73,942) $ 73,851 $ 63,829
Other (180,212) (163,099) (10,875)

Total income before taxes $ (254,154) $ (89,248) $ 52,954

Assets:
Total for reportable segments $ 4,040,995 $ 4,072,574
Other 2,125,045 1,461,276
Eliminations (2,236,499) (1,457,500)

Consolidated $ 3,929,541 $ 4,076,350

Investment and other income:
Total for reportable segments $ 103,881 $ 105,505 $ 83,199
Other 28,698 38,815 19,904
Eliminations (33,538) (30,020) (14,711)

Consolidated $ 99,041 $ 114,300 $ 88,392

Interest expense:
Total for reportable segments $ 14,669 $ 12,160 $ 7,203
Other 95,396 62,998 45,407
Eliminations (17,906) (11,603) (7,238)

Consolidated $ 92,159 $ 63,555 $ 45,372

Depreciation and amortization:
Total for reportable segments $ 104,757 $ 79,619 $ 98,222
Other 23,336 18,734 14,694

Consolidated $ 128,093 $ 98,353 $ 112,916

Asset impairment:
Total for reportable segments $ 167,958 $ — $ —
Other 31,538 44,300 17,400

Consolidated $ 199,496 $ 44,300 $ 17,400

Merger, restructuring and other charges:
Total for reportable segments $ 26,978 $ 221,879 $ 24,208
Other 48,479 129,746 2,500

Consolidated $ 75,457 $ 351,625 $ 26,708
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The reconciling amounts to adjust total reportable segment amounts to consolidated amounts represent
amounts from non-reportable operating segments comprised primarily of corporate units.

Note 17 – Quarterly Information (unaudited)
The following restated interim financial information presents the 1998 and 1997 results of operations on a 
quarterly basis (in thousands,except per share data) (see Note 1):

March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31

1 9 9 8 :
Total revenues $2,175,374 $2,236,971 $2,213,954 $2,269,777
Income (loss) from continuing operations 

before income taxes 43,262 1,529 (127,572) (171,373)
Income (loss) from continuing operations 26,238 956 (88,619) (103,733)
Net income (loss) 26,238 956 (88,619) (103,733)
Basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share

Continuing operations 0.22 0.01 (0.73) (0.85)
Net 0.22 0.01 (0.73) (0.85)

March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31

1 9 9 7 :
Total revenues $1,770,019 $1,773,422 $1,793,379 $1,898,199
Income (loss) from continuing operations 

before income taxes 78,683 (313,108) 97,081 48,096
Income (loss) from continuing operations 47,624 (205,792) 59,803 30,535
Net income (loss) 58,481 (200,128) 68,901 (114,338)
Basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share( i )

Continuing operations 0.38 (1.64) 0.49 0.25
Net 0.47 (1.60) 0.57 (0.94)

(i) The sum of quarterly earnings (loss) per share amounts may not equal the year-to-date earnings (loss) per share amounts due to transactions affecting the weighted average

number of shares outstanding in each quarter .

Note 18 – Subsequent Events
In February 1999,the Company entered into a
definitive agreement to sell all of the outstanding
shares of its pharmacy benefit management sub-
sidiary, Foundation Health Pharmaceutical Services,
Inc.,for $70 million in cash.Completion of the
transaction is subject to certain closing conditions,
and is expected to close in the first half of 1999.

In March 1999, the Company signed a letter
of intent to sell its Colorado health plan subsidiary.
The completion of the transaction will be subject 
to reaching a definitive agreement and va rious condi-
t i o n s , including the receipt of all necessary re g u l a t o ry
a p p rovals and other customary closing conditions.

In March 1999, the Company also entered into
a definitive agreement to sell all of the outstanding
s h a res of its New Mexico health plan subsidiary.
Completion of the transaction is subject to va ri o u s
conditions and certain regulatory approvals.
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